VITAL THERAPIES I	NC
Form DEF 14A	
October 07, 2015	

I	IN	J	Π	1	F.	$\mathbf{\Gamma}$)	S	Γ.	A	7	ויו	F.	ς	

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant x

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

Preliminary Proxy Statement

Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

x Definitive Proxy Statement
Definitive Additional Materials
Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

VITAL THERAPIES, INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

··	x Fee computed on table	No fee required. e below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
(1)	Title of eac	ch class of securities to which transaction applies:
(2)	Aggregate	number of securities to which transaction applies:
(3) Per unit price or other amount on which the	underlying value of tra filing fee is calculated a	nsaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the and state how it was determined):
(4)	Prop	posed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
	(5)	Total fee paid:
	Fe	e paid previously with preliminary materials.
	was paid previously. Ide	ided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for entify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:
(2)	F	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
	(3)	Filing Party:
	(4)	Date Filed:

15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200	
San Diego, California 92128	
(858) 673-6840	
To our Stockholders:	
We are pleased to invite you to attend the annual meeting of stockholders of Vital Tuesday, November 17, 2015 at 8:00 a.m., Pacific Time, at the offices of Wilson Sorofessional Corporation located at One Market Plaza, Spear Tower, 1 Market Stree California 94105.	onsini Goodrich & Rosati,
Details regarding how to attend the annual meeting and the business to be conducte fully described in the accompanying notice of annual meeting of stockholders and particles.	
Your vote is important. Regardless of whether you plan to attend the annual meeting be represented and voted at the annual meeting, and we hope you will vote as soon proxy over the Internet or by telephone, or, if you received paper copies of the proxy vote by mail by following the instructions on the proxy card or voting instruction catelephone, written proxy or voting instruction card will ensure your representation a whether you attend the annual meeting.	as possible. You may vote by y materials by mail, you may also ard. Voting over the Internet or by
Thank you for your ongoing support of, and continued interest in, Vital Therapies, l	Inc.
Sincerely,	
Terence E. Winters, Ph.D. Muneer A. Satter	

Co-Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer Co-Chairman of the Board and Lead Director

San Diego, California

October 7, 2015

VITAL THERAPIES, INC.

15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200

San Diego, California 92128

(858) 673-6840

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Time and Date 8:00 a.m., Pacific Time, on Tuesday, November 17, 2015

Offices of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation located at One Market **Place** Plaza, Spear Tower, 1 Market Street, Suite 3300, San Francisco, California 94105

> (1) To elect as Class I directors the three nominees named in the accompanying proxy statement to serve until our 2018 annual meeting of stockholders and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.

- Items of Business (2) To ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015.
 - (3) To transact other business that may properly come before the annual meeting.

Adjournments and

Postponements

Any action on the items of business described above may be considered at the annual meeting at the time and on the date specified above or at any time and date to which the annual meeting may be properly adjourned or postponed.

September 22, 2015

Record Date

Only stockholders of record of our common stock as of September 22, 2015 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the annual meeting.

Meeting Admission

You are invited to attend the annual meeting if you are a stockholder of record or a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock, in each case, as of September 22, 2015. If you are a

stockholder of record, you must present valid government-issued photo identification (e.g., driver's license or passport) for admission to the annual meeting. If you are a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock, you must provide proof of such ownership as of September 22, 2015 (e.g., your most recent account statement reflecting your stock ownership as of September 22, 2015) and you must present valid government-issued photo identification for admission to the annual meeting.

Voting

Your vote is very important. You may vote by proxy over the Internet or by telephone, or, if you received paper copies of the proxy materials by mail, you may also vote by mail by following the instructions on the proxy card or voting instruction card. For specific instructions on how to vote your shares, please refer to the section entitled *Questions and Answers* beginning on page 1 of the accompanying proxy statement.

Availability of Proxy Materials

The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, which contains instructions on how to access the proxy materials and our 2014 annual report, is first being sent or given on or about October 7, 2015 to all stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting. The proxy materials and our 2014 annual report can be accessed directly as of October 7, 2015 at the following Internet address: http://www.astproxyportal.com/ast/18939.

By order of the Board of Directors,

John M. Dunn General Counsel and Secretary San Diego, California October 7, 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND ANNUAL MEETING	1
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	9
Composition of the Board	9
Nominees for Director	10
Continuing Directors	11
<u>Director Independence</u>	14
Board Leadership Structure and Lead Director	15
Role of Board in Risk Oversight Process	15
Board Meetings and Committees	15
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	18
Considerations in Evaluating Director Nominees	18
Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to Our Board	19
Communications with the Board of Directors	20
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics	20
<u>Director Compensation</u>	20
<u>Director Compensation Table</u>	22
PROPOSAL NUMBER 1—ELECTION OF CLASS I DIRECTORS	24
Nominees for Director	24
Required Vote	24
Board Recommendation	24
PROPOSAL NUMBER 2—RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PURPOSAL NUMBER 2—RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT APPOINTM	BLIÇ ₅
ACCOUNTING FIRM	23
Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	25
<u>Auditor Independence</u>	26
Pre-Approval Policy	26
Required Vote	26
Board Recommendation	26
Report of the Audit Committee	27
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	28
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	31
Processes and Procedures for Executive and Director Compensation	31
Summary Compensation Table	32
Option Awards	32
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation	32
Agreements With Our Named Executive Officers	33
Executive Change of Control and Severance Agreements	34
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2014 Fiscal Year End	36
Perquisites, Health, Welfare and Retirement Benefits	37
401(k) Savings Plan	37
Equity Compensation Plan Information	38
Compensation Committee Report	38

-i-

Related Person Transactions	39
Related Person Transactions Policy	41
SECURITY OWNERSHIP	43
OTHER MATTERS	46
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	46
Fiscal Year 2014 Annual Report	46
Company Website	46
Availability of Bylaws	46
Directions to Annual Meeting	46
PROPOSALS OF STOCKHOLDERS FOR 2016 ANNUAL MEETING	47
Stockholder Proposals For Inclusion in Proxy Statement	47
Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations Not for Inclusion in Proxy Statement	47

-ii-

VITAL THERAPIES, INC.

15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200

San Diego, California 92128

PROXY STATEMENT

For the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

to be held on November 17, 2015

The information provided in the "Questions and Answers" format below is for your convenience only and is merely a summary of the information contained in this proxy statement. You should read the entire proxy statement carefully.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND ANNUAL MEETING

Why am I receiving these materials?

This proxy statement and the enclosed form of proxy are furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by our board of directors for use at the 2015 annual meeting of stockholders of Vital Therapies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any postponements or adjournments thereof. The annual meeting will be held on Tuesday, November 17, 2015 at 8:00 a.m., Pacific Time, at the offices of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation located at One Market Plaza, Spear Tower, 1 Market Street, Suite 3300, San Francisco, California 94105.

Stockholders are invited to attend the annual meeting and are requested to vote on the items of business described in this proxy statement. The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, or the Notice of Internet Availability, which contains instructions on how to access the proxy materials and our 2014 annual report, is first being sent or given on or about October 7, 2015 to all stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting. In addition, the proxy materials and our 2014 annual report can be accessed directly as of October 7, 2015 at the following Internet address: http://www.astproxyportal.com/ast/18939.

What am I voting on?

You are being asked to vote on two proposals:

the election of the three nominees for Class I director named in this proxy statement to hold office until our 2018 annual meeting of stockholders and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified; and

the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015.

What if other matters are properly brought before the annual meeting?

As of the date of this proxy statement, we are not aware of any other matters that will be presented for consideration at the annual meeting. If any other matters are properly brought before the annual meeting, the persons named as proxies will be authorized to vote or otherwise act on those matters in accordance with their judgment. If for any reason a Class I director nominee is not available as a candidate for director, the persons named as proxy holders will vote your proxy for such other candidate as may be nominated by our board of directors.

-1-

How	does	the	board	Λf	directors '	recommend	l tha	t 1	[vote?

Our board of directors recommends that you vote your shares:

"FOR" each of the three nominees for Class I director named in this proxy statement; and

"FOR" the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015.

Who may vote at the annual meeting?

Only stockholders of record as of the close of business on September 22, 2015, the record date, are entitled to vote at the annual meeting. As of the record date, there were 24,145,680 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding, held by 81 holders of record. We do not have cumulative voting rights for the election of directors.

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If, at the close of business on the record date for the annual meeting, your shares were registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, then you are a stockholder of record. As a stockholder of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to the individuals listed on the proxy card or to vote in person at the annual meeting.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank, or Other Nominee. If, at the close of business on the record date for the annual meeting, your shares were held, not in your name, but rather in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name" and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by that organization. The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the annual meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other nominee regarding how to vote the shares in your account by following the voting instructions your broker, bank or other nominee provides. You are also invited to attend the annual meeting. However, since you are not the stockholder of record, you may not vote your shares in person at the annual meeting unless you obtain a valid proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee.

How can I vote my shares?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name

If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote in one of the following ways:

You may vote in person. If you plan to attend the annual meeting, you may vote by delivering your completed proxy card in person or by completing and submitting a ballot, which will be provided at the annual meeting.

You may vote by mail. Complete, sign and date the proxy card that accompanies this proxy statement and return it promptly in the postage-prepaid envelope provided (if you received printed proxy materials). Your completed, signed and dated proxy card must be received prior to the annual meeting.

You may vote by telephone. To vote over the telephone, dial toll-free (800) 776-9437 if calling from the United States or (718) 921-8500 if calling from a foreign country using a touch-tone

-2-

telephone and follow the recorded instructions (have your Notice of Internet Availability or proxy card in hand when you call). You will be asked to provide the company number and control number from your Notice of Internet Availability or proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, until 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on November 16, 2015.

You may vote via the Internet. To vote via the Internet, go to http://www.astproxyportal.com/ast/18939 to complete an electronic proxy card (have your Notice of Internet Availability or proxy card in hand when you visit the website). You will be asked to provide the company number and control number from your Notice of Internet Availability or proxy card. Internet voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, until 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on November 16, 2015.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee

If you are a beneficial owner of shares held of record by a broker, bank or other nominee, you will receive voting instructions from your broker, bank or other nominee. You must follow the voting instructions provided by your broker, bank or other nominee in order to instruct your broker, bank or other nominee on how to vote your shares. Beneficial owners of shares should generally be able to vote by returning the voting instruction card, or by telephone or via the Internet. However, the availability of telephone or Internet voting will depend on the voting process of your broker, bank, or other nominee. As discussed above, if you are a beneficial owner, you may *not* vote your shares in person at the annual meeting unless you obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee.

Can I change my vote or revoke my proxy?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record, you can change your vote or revoke your proxy at any time before the annual meeting by:

- · entering a new vote by Internet or telephone (until the applicable deadline for each method as set forth above);
 - returning a later-dated proxy card (which automatically revokes the earlier proxy);

providing a written notice of revocation to our corporate secretary at Vital Therapies, 15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92128, Attn: Corporate Secretary; or

attending the annual meeting and voting in person. Attendance at the annual meeting will not cause your previously granted proxy to be revoked unless you specifically so request.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you are the beneficial owner of your shares, you must contact the broker, bank or other nominee holding your shares and follow their instructions to change your vote or revoke your proxy.

Why did I receive a notice in the mail regarding the Internet availability of the proxy materials instead of a paper copy of the full set of proxy materials?

In accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, we have elected to distribute our proxy materials, including the notice of annual meeting of stockholders, this proxy statement and our 2014 annual report, primarily via the Internet. As a result, we are mailing to many of our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability instead of a paper copy of the proxy materials. The Notice of Internet

-3-

Availability contains instructions on how to access our proxy materials on the Internet, how to vote at the annual meeting, and how to request printed copies of the proxy materials and 2014 annual report. We encourage stockholders to take advantage of the availability of the proxy materials on the Internet to help reduce our costs and the environmental impact of our annual meetings.

What is the effect of giving a proxy?

Proxies are solicited by and on behalf of our board of directors. The persons named in the proxy, Terence E. Winters, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officer and Co-Chairman, and Muneer A. Satter, our Co-Chairman and Lead Director, have been designated as proxies for the annual meeting by our board of directors. When proxies are properly dated, executed and returned, the shares represented by such proxies will be voted at the annual meeting in accordance with the instruction of the stockholder. If no specific instructions are given, however, the shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of our board of directors as described above and, if any other matters are properly brought before the annual meeting, the shares will be voted in accordance with the proxies' judgment.

How many votes do I have?

On each matter to be voted upon at the annual meeting, each stockholder will be entitled to one vote for each share of our common stock held by them on the record date.

What is the quorum requirement for the annual meeting?

A quorum is the minimum number of shares required to be present or represented at the annual meeting for the meeting to be properly held under our bylaws and Delaware law. Holders of a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock entitled to vote at the annual meeting must be present in person or represented by proxy to hold and transact business at the annual meeting. On the record date, there were 24,145,680 shares outstanding and entitled to vote. Thus, the holders of at least 12,072,841 must be present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting to have a quorum.

Abstentions, "WITHHOLD" votes, and "broker non-votes" are counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining a quorum. If there is no quorum, the chairman of the meeting or the holders of a majority of the voting power present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting and entitled to vote at the annual meeting may adjourn the meeting to another date.

What are broker non-votes?

Broker non-votes occur when a beneficial owner of shares held in "street name" does not give instructions to the broker holding the shares as to how to vote on matters deemed "non-routine" and there is at least one "routine" matter to be voted upon at the meeting. Generally, if shares are held in street name, the beneficial owner of the shares is entitled to give voting instructions to the broker holding the shares. If the beneficial owner does not provide voting instructions, the broker can still vote the shares with respect to matters that are considered to be "routine," but not with respect to "non-routine" matters. In the event that a broker votes shares on the "routine" matters, but does not vote shares on the "non-routine" matters, those shares will be treated as broker non-votes with respect to the "non-routine" proposals. Accordingly, if you own shares through a nominee, such as a broker or bank, please be sure to instruct your nominee how to vote to ensure that your vote is counted on each of the proposals.

-4-

What matters are considered "routine" and "non-routine"?

The ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015 (Proposal No. 2) is considered routine under applicable federal securities rules. The election of Class I directors (Proposal No. 1) is considered "non-routine" under applicable federal securities rules.

What are the effects of abstentions and broker non-votes?

An abstention represents a stockholder's affirmative choice to decline to vote on a proposal. If a stockholder indicates on its proxy card that it wishes to abstain from voting its shares, or if a broker, bank or other nominee holding its customers' shares of record causes abstentions to be recorded for shares, these shares will be considered present and entitled to vote at the annual meeting. As a result, abstentions will be counted for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum and will also count as votes against a proposal in cases where approval of the proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual meeting (*e.g.*, Proposal No. 2). However, because the outcome of Proposal No. 1 (election of directors) will be determined by a plurality vote, abstentions will have no impact on the outcome of such proposal as long as a quorum exists.

Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of calculating whether a quorum is present at the annual meeting but will not be counted for purposes of determining the number of votes cast. Therefore, a broker non-vote will make a quorum more readily attainable but will not otherwise affect the outcome of the vote on any proposal.

What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals?

Proposal No. 1: Election of Class I Directors. The election of Class I directors requires a plurality of the votes cast by the holders of shares present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. This means that the three nominees for Class I director receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes will be elected as Class I directors. You may vote (i) "FOR" each director or (ii) "WITHHOLD" for each director nominee. Because the outcome of this proposal will be determined by a plurality vote, shares voted "WITHHOLD" will have no impact on the outcome of this proposal, but will count towards the quorum requirement for the annual meeting.

Proposal No. 2: Ratification of Appointment Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP. The ratification of the appointment of Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting and entitled to vote thereon to be approved. You may vote "FOR," "AGAINST," or "ABSTAIN" on this proposal. Abstentions will count towards the quorum requirement for the annual meeting and will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

Who will count the votes?

A representative of our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, will tabulate the votes and act as inspector of elections.

What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted or fail to provide timely directions to my broker, bank or other nominee?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record and you submit a proxy but you do not provide voting instructions, your shares will be voted:

-5-

"FOR" each of the three nominees for Class I director named in this proxy statement; and

"FOR" the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015.

In addition, if any other matters are properly brought before the annual meeting, the persons named as proxies will be authorized to vote or otherwise act on those matters in accordance with their judgment.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. Brokers, banks and other nominees holding shares of common stock in street name for customers are generally required to vote such shares in the manner directed by their customers. In the absence of timely directions, your broker, bank or other nominee will have discretion to vote your shares on our sole "routine" matter – Proposal No. 2 to ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Absent direction from you, however, your broker, bank or other nominee will not have the discretion to vote on Proposal No. 1 relating to the election of directors.

How can I contact Vital Therapies' transfer agent?

You may contact our transfer agent by writing American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219. You may also contact our transfer agent via email at info@amstock.com or by telephone at (800) 937-5449.

How can I attend the annual meeting?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you were a stockholder of record at the close of business on the record date, you must present valid government-issued photo identification (e.g., driver's license or passport) for admission to the annual meeting.

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you were a beneficial owner at the close of business on the record date, you may not vote your shares in person at the annual meeting unless you obtain a "legal proxy" from your broker, bank or other nominee who is the stockholder of record with respect to your shares. You may still attend the annual meeting even if you do not have a legal proxy. For admission to the annual meeting, you must provide proof of beneficial ownership as of the record date (e.g., your most recent account statement reflecting your stock ownership as of the record date) and you must present valid government-issued photo

identification.
Please note that no cameras, recording equipment, large bags, briefcases or packages will be permitted in the annual meeting.
Directions to the annual meeting may be found in the section entitled <i>Other Matters – Directions to Annual Meeting</i> below.
Will the annual meeting be webcast?
We do not expect to webcast the annual meeting.
How are proxies solicited for the annual meeting and who is paying for such solicitation?
Our board of directors is soliciting proxies for use at the annual meeting by means of the proxy materials. We will bear the entire cost of proxy solicitation, including the preparation, assembly, printing,
-6-

mailing and distribution of the proxy materials. Copies of solicitation materials will also be made available upon request to brokers, banks and other nominees to forward to the beneficial owners of the shares held of record by such brokers, banks or other nominees. The original solicitation of proxies may be supplemented by solicitation by telephone, electronic communication, or other means by our directors, officers or employees. No additional compensation will be paid to these individuals for any such services, although we may reimburse such individuals for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with such solicitation. We do not plan to retain a proxy solicitor to assist in the solicitation of proxies.

If you choose to access the proxy materials and/or vote over the Internet, you are responsible for Internet access charges you may incur. If you choose to vote by telephone, you are responsible for telephone charges you may incur.

Where can I find the voting results of the annual meeting?

We will announce preliminary voting results at the annual meeting. We will also disclose voting results on a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC within four business days after the annual meeting. If final voting results are not available to us in time to file a Current Report on Form 8-K within four business days after the annual meeting, we will file a Current Report on Form 8-K to publish preliminary results and, within four business days after final results are known, file an additional Current Report on Form 8-K to publish the final results.

What does it mean if I receive more than one Notice of Internet Availability or more than one set of printed materials?

If you receive more than one Notice of Internet Availability or more than one set of printed materials, your shares may be registered in more than one name and/or are registered in different accounts. Please follow the voting instructions on each Notice of Internet Availability or each set of printed materials, as applicable, to ensure that all of your shares are voted.

I share an address with another stockholder, and we received only one printed copy of the proxy materials. How may I obtain an additional copy of the proxy materials?

We have adopted an SEC-approved procedure called "householding," under which we can deliver a single copy of the proxy materials and annual report to multiple stockholders who share the same address unless we receive contrary instructions from one or more of the stockholders. This procedure reduces our printing and mailing costs.

Stockholders who participate in householding will continue to be able to access and receive separate proxy cards. Upon written or oral request, we will undertake to deliver promptly a separate copy of the proxy materials and annual report to any stockholder at a shared address to which we delivered a single copy of any of these documents. To receive a separate copy, or, if you are receiving multiple copies, to request that we only send a single copy of next year's proxy materials and annual report, you may contact us as follows:

Vital Therapies, Inc.

Attention: Investor Relations

15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200

San Diego, CA 92128

(858) 673-6840

Stockholders who hold shares in street name may contact their brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer or other nominee to request information about householding.

-7-

Is there a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting?

The names of stockholders of record entitled to vote at the annual meeting will be available at the annual meeting and from our corporate secretary for ten days prior to the meeting for any purpose germane to the meeting, between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m., Pacific Time, at our corporate headquarters located at 15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92128.

When are stockholder proposals due for next year's annual meeting?

Please see the section entitled *Other Matters - Deadlines to Propose Actions for Consideration at the 2016 Annual Meeting* in this proxy statement for more information regarding the deadlines for the submission of stockholder proposals for our 2016 annual meeting.

What are the implications of being an "emerging growth company"?

We are an "emerging growth company" under applicable federal securities laws and therefore permitted to take advantage of certain reduced public company reporting requirements. As an emerging growth company, we provide in this proxy statement the scaled disclosure permitted under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, including certain executive compensation disclosures required of a "smaller reporting company," as that term is defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. In addition, as an emerging growth company, we are not required to conduct votes seeking approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers or the frequency with which such votes must be conducted. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of: (a) January 1, 2020; (b) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have more than \$1.0 billion in annual revenue; (c) the end of the fiscal year in which the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds \$700.0 million as of the end of the second quarter of that fiscal year; or (d) the issuance, in any three-year period, by us of more than \$1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities.

-8-

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Composition of the Board

Our board of directors is currently composed of ten members. Nine of the ten directors that comprise our board of directors are "independent directors" within the meaning of such term as set forth in the listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC, or NASDAQ. Our board of directors is divided into three staggered classes of directors. At each annual meeting of stockholders, a class of directors will be elected for a term of three years to succeed the class of directors whose terms are then expiring.

The following table sets forth the names, ages, and certain other information for each of the directors with terms expiring at the annual meeting (who are also nominees for election as a director at the annual meeting) and for each of the continuing members of our board of directors. All information is as of September 22, 2015.

Name	Class	Age	Position	Director Since	Current Term Expires	Expiration of Term for Which Nominated
Nominees for Director						
Terence E. Winters, Ph.D.	I	73	Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	2003	2015	2018
Philip M. Croxford ⁽¹⁾	I	54	Director	2009	2015	2018
Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D. (1)(2)	I	65	Director	2005	2015	2018
Continuing Directors						
Muneer A. Satter ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	II	54	Co-Chairman and Lead Director	2013	2016	_
Jean-Jacques Bienaimé ⁽²⁾	II	62	Director	2013	2016	
Douglas E. Godshall ⁽⁴⁾	II	50	Director	2013	2016	_
Errol R. Halperin ⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾	III	74	Director	2012	2017	_
J. Michael Millis, M.D. (1)(3)	III	56	Director	2006	2017	_
Lowell E. Sears ⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾	III	64	Director	2013	2017	
Cheryl L. Cohen	III	49	Director	2015	2017	_

(1) Member of quality and technology committee.
 (2) Member of compensation committee.
 (3) Member of nominating and governance committee.

(4) Member of audit committee.

-9-

Nominees for Director

Terence E. Winters, Ph.D. has served as the Chairman of our board of directors from June 2003 to March 2013. Dr. Winters became Co-Chairman of our board of directors in March 2013 and currently serves as such. Dr. Winters has served as our Chief Executive Officer since June 2003. Dr. Winters is also a Special Limited Partner of Valley Ventures, an investor in Vital Therapies since May 2003. He was formerly a General Partner of Columbine Venture Funds and Vice President of DS Ventures, a venture capital subsidiary of Diamond Shamrock Corp., a chemical, life science and petroleum company. Dr. Winters was previously a director of three public companies: CollaGenex Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a developer and marketer of proprietary medical therapies to the dermatology market; Orthologic Corp., a biotechnology company focused on development and commercialization of novel synthetic peptides for tissue repair and healing; and Clinuvel Pharmaceuticals, a global biopharmaceutical company committed to developing drugs for the treatment of a range of severe skin disorders. Dr. Winters has also served as a director of over 20 private companies. He earned a B.Sc. as well as a Ph.D. in chemistry from the University of Wales, United Kingdom. He also completed a post-doctoral fellowship at the University of California, Los Angeles.

We believe Dr. Winters is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his experience with corporate governance as a director of many private and public life science companies and over 30 years of experience as a general partner of venture capital funds with investments in life sciences and medical technology companies.

Philip M. Croxford, M.B.A. has served on our board of directors since 2009 and as a healthcare president and chief executive officer for over 15 years. Mr. Croxford currently serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of Gamma Medica, Inc., a breast diagnostic imaging company, since April 2015. Previously, Mr. Croxford held the position of Global President of LifeCell Corporation, a tissue biotechnology engineering company, from September 2013 until September 2014, and was a member of its parent, Acelity (formerly KCI), Executive Leadership Team. From December 2012 to August 2013, Mr. Croxford was Senior Vice President of Global Commercial Operations for LifeCell. From June 2008 to December 2012 he was President and Chief Executive Officer of ArjoHuntleigh, North America, a member of The Getinge AB Group, a global medical and safety technology company listed on the OMX Nordic Exchange. He served on their Executive Leadership Team during his term in office. From February 2006 to October 2007, Mr. Croxford was President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the board of directors of Draeger Medical, Inc., a private medical device company. Mr. Croxford also served as Group Vice President and Worldwide General Manager of Arrow International, Inc. and as an Operating Company Board Member and Vice President for the Worldwide Wound Management Business of Ethicon, a Johnson & Johnson Company. Mr. Croxford also held other executive management positions with Johnson & Johnson Company and Smith & Nephew. He earned a B.Sc. (Honors) degree in pharmacy from the University of Manchester, School of Pharmacy, in England. Mr. Croxford is also a licensed member of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain. He earned a Post Graduate Diploma in marketing from the Royal Chartered Institute of Marketing, and is a Chartered Member of the Institute. He earned his M.B.A. from Heriot-Watt University, Edinburgh Business School, United Kingdom.

We believe Mr. Croxford is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his significant operational and leadership experience, including, without limitation, senior management experience of public international companies, extensive experience in the life sciences and medical technology industries, and a strong academic background, including degrees in pharmacy, marketing and business.

Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D. has served on our board of directors since May 2005. Dr. Steer has been an independent pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical devices consultant since 1989. Dr. Steer has served as Associate Director of Medical Affairs at Marion Laboratories, a then-public pharmaceutical

-10-

company; Medical Director at Ciba Consumer Pharmaceuticals (a division of Ciba-Geigy Corporation, a then-public pharmaceutical company); Vice President, Senior Vice President and Member of the Executive Committee at Physicians World Communications Group; Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Advanced Therapeutics Communications International, a drug regulatory group serving the U.S., Mexico, Latin America, the Pacific Rim, Europe and Japan; Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Vicus.com, Inc.; and President and Chief Operating Officer of Capstone Therapeutics Corp., a public biotechnology company. Dr. Steer is a member of the board of directors of Techne Corporation, a public biotechnology company, and the Board of Trustees of the Mayo Clinic. He earned his B.A. in Physiology from University of Minnesota. He earned an M.D. from the Mayo Medical School and a Ph.D. from the University of Minnesota where he also completed a residency and subspecialty training in clinical and chemical pathology. He is a Fellow of the American College of Clinical Pharmacology.

We believe that Dr. Steer is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his experience as a senior manager in multiple biotechnology and medical device companies and his background and experience in the medical and clinical field.

Continuing Directors

Muneer A. Satter, J.D., M.B.A. has served on our board of directors since March 2013 and is our Co-Chairman and Lead Director. Mr. Satter manages Satter Investment Management, or SIM, a private investment firm and family office with significant investments in several life sciences and medical technology companies. He has also managed the Satter Foundation, a private family foundation since 1997. Mr. Satter has served as Chairman or Co-Chairman of Akebia Therapeutics, a publicly-traded biotech company focused on the treatment of anemia and vascular disease, since May 2013. Since October 2013, he has served as Co-Chairman of Aerpio Therapeutics, a biotech company focused on diabetic macular edema and vascular leaks. He is a director of Annexon which is a complement cascade pathway company focused on autoimmune and neurologic diseases. Mr. Satter is Co-Founder and has served as Chairman of Restorsea, a company which holds exclusive rights to a unique enzyme for an anti-aging cream since May 2013. He has served as Chairman of Ling3, a unique secure payment platform for lottery transactions since May 2013. He is Vice Chairman of the Board of the Goldman Sachs Foundation and GS Gives, where he is also Chairman of the Investment Committee overseeing \$1.2 billion of assets. He is on the Board of the Nature Conservancy where he is Chairman of the Finance Committee overseeing a \$1.6 billion endowment. He is also on the Board of Trustees of Northwestern University where he is Chairman of the Finance Committee. He is on the Board of Advisors of the American Enterprise Institute. He is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations and is on the board of World Business Chicago, which is chaired by Chicago's Mayor Rahm Emanuel. He is also a member of the Board of the Navy SEAL Foundation. Mr. Satter is a retired partner at Goldman Sachs, where he was at the firm for twenty-four years and a partner of the firm for sixteen years in the Merchant Banking Division. He was the Global Head of the Mezzanine Group, where he raised and managed over \$30 billion of assets. He was also a senior member of the Investment Committee and Chairman of the Risk Committee for the Merchant Banking Division, which at the time had over \$80 billion of assets under management. Additionally, he was former Co-Chairman of Room to Read, which builds 2,000 libraries and schools per year in developing countries. Mr. Satter earned a B.A. from Northwestern University and a J.D. and M.B.A. from Harvard Law School and Harvard Business School, respectively.

We believe Mr. Satter is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his extensive experience in merchant banking and venture capital investments and his experience as an investor and director of other companies in the life sciences and medical technology industries.

Jean-Jacques Bienaimé has served on our board of directors since September 2013. Since May 2005, Mr. Bienaimé has served as the chief executive officer and as a director of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc., a

-11-

publicly-traded company that develops and commercializes innovative pharmaceuticals for serious diseases and medical conditions. From November 2002 to April 2005, Mr. Bienaimé served as chairman, chief executive officer and president of Genencor, a biotechnology company focused on industrial bioproducts and targeted cancer biotherapeutics. Prior to joining Genencor, Mr. Bienaimé was chairman, president and chief executive officer of SangStat Medical Corporation, another biotechnology company. He became president of SangStat Medical Corporation, a global pharmaceutical company, in 1998 and chief executive officer in 1999. Prior to joining SangStat Medical Corporation, Mr. Bienaimé held various management positions from 1992 to 1998 with Rhône-Poulenc Rorer Pharmaceuticals (now known as Sanofi-Aventis), including Senior Vice President of Corporate Marketing and Business Development, and Vice President and General Manager of the Advanced Therapeutic and Oncology division. Mr. Bienaimé has served on the board of BioMarin Pharmaceuticals Inc. since May 2005, and the board of Incyte Corporation, a publicly-traded biopharmaceutical company, since January 2015. In addition, he serves on the board of The Biotech Industry Organization. Mr. Bienaimé served on the boards of Intermune, Inc., a publicly-traded biotechnology company, from March 2012 until its acquisition by Roche Holdings, Inc. in September 2014, and Portola Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a publicly-traded biopharmaceutical company, from September 2010 through June 2014. Mr. Bienaimé earned an M.B.A. from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania and a B.S. in economics from the Ecole Superieure de Commerce de Paris.

We believe that Mr. Bienaimé is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his extensive experience in the management of biotechnology organizations, business development, and sales and marketing of both biotechnology and pharmaceutical products.

Douglas E. Godshall, M.B.A. has served on our board of directors since May 2013. Mr. Godshall has been the Chief Executive Officer of HeartWare International, Inc., a developer of a range of implantable mechanical circulatory assist devices, since September 2006 and a director since October 2006. Prior to joining HeartWare, Mr. Godshall served in various executive and managerial positions at Boston Scientific Corporation, a manufacturer and a developer of medical supplies and medical devices in a variety of fields, including as a member of Boston Scientific's Operating Committee and President, Vascular Surgery. Previously, Mr. Godshall spent five years as Vice President, Business Development, at Boston Scientific, where he was focused on acquisition strategies for the cardiology, electrophysiology, neuroradiology and vascular surgery divisions. In March 2012, Mr. Godshall was appointed a director of pSivida Corp., a developer of drug delivery products for treatment of back-of-the-eye diseases. Mr. Godshall earned a B.A. in business from Lafayette College and an M.B.A from Northeastern University.

We believe that Mr. Godshall is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his experience as an executive officer and director of several life sciences and medical technology companies.

Errol R. Halperin, J.D., L.L.M. has served on our board of directors since December 2012. Mr. Halperin was a senior partner of DLA Piper from January 1979 until December 2013. At the present time, Mr. Halperin is a senior strategic advisor to DLA Piper (U.S.). In his practice, Mr. Halperin has provided general business advice to clients in a broad range of sectors, including the manufacturing, real estate industry and real estate investment trust industry.

Mr. Halperin's practice was concentrated in the areas of mergers and acquisitions, corporate law, international transactions, real estate law and federal income tax law. Mr. Halperin has also served on the board of Equity Residential, a public REIT, and private company boards. Currently, he is a director of Elkay Manufacturing Company, a privately held corporation, and Pangea Properties, a private real estate investment and management company. He also currently serves as a director of other late stage private venture companies, including LINQ3, LLC and Restorsea, LLC. Before joining DLA Piper, from June 1972 to January 1979 he was legislation counsel of the Joint Committee on Taxation of the U.S. Congress; and was an assistant branch chief of the Legislation and Regulations Division of the Chief

-12-

Counsel for the Internal Revenue Service from June 1968 to June 1972. Mr. Halperin earned a B.S. and a J.D. from DePaul University and an L.L.M. in taxation from New York University.

We believe that Mr. Halperin is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his experience as an attorney practicing for a nationally known firm in the areas of mergers and acquisitions and corporate transactions and his involvement in advising venture capital backed companies.

J. Michael Millis, M.D. has served on our board of directors since 2006. Dr. Millis is a Professor of Surgery and Vice Chair of Global Surgery, Chief of the Section of Transplantation at the University of Chicago. Dr. Millis currently serves on the medical staff at the University of Chicago Hospital. His current research explores the application of cellular technology on patient care, including how hepatocyte transplantation, extracorporeal assist technology and stem cells can assist in the care of patients with liver disease or liver tumors. Dr. Millis has been associated with the ELAD System since 1994, and was an investigator on the Phase 1 clinical trial. He has been the chairman of the Vital Therapies Clinical Advisory Board since 2003. Dr. Millis currently serves or has served in the past on a variety of committees, such as the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases' Ethics Committee, the American Society of Transplant Surgeons, Studies of Pediatric Liver Transplantation Scientific Advisory Board and Publication and Research Committee, and the ROBI Liver Intestinal Subcommittee, for which he is the former chairman. Dr. Millis is also a member of the Medical Advisory Committee of the American Liver Foundation Illinois Chapter. He also serves on the board of directors of Gift of Hope (the organ procurement organization for Illinois) and the Editorial Board of the American Journal of Transplantation, Transplantation, and Liver Transplantation. He earned a B.A. in chemistry and political science from Emory University and an M.D. with high honors from the University of Tennessee. He completed his surgical residency, clinical and research fellowship in liver transplantation at the University of California, Los Angeles. He also received his M.B.A. from University of Massachusetts, Amherst in 2014.

We believe that Dr. Millis is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his participation on multiple advisory committees and boards and his research in the treatment of liver disease.

Lowell E. Sears, M.B.A. has served on our board of directors since May 2013. Mr. Sears is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Sears Capital Management, a venture investment and portfolio management firm specializing in life sciences. He has served on the board of directors of Cellerant Therapeutics, Inc., a clinical stage biotechnology company focused on the regulation of the hematopoietic, or blood-forming, system, since February 2012 and has been Chairman of the Board since June 2012. Mr. Sears has also served on the board of directors of SymBio Pharmaceuticals, KK, Ltd., a biotechnology company that is engaged in identifying and developing therapeutics for the treatment of leukemia, multiple myeloma and lymphoma, since September 2005. He has served on the board of directors of SiteOne Therapeutics, Inc., a privately-held company developing small molecular pain therapies, and has been Chairman of the Board since September 2014. From 1986 until 1994, Mr. Sears was a part of the senior management team of Amgen, Inc., a developer and manufacturer of therapeutics targeting cancers, kidney ailments, inflammatory disorders, and metabolic diseases, where he was Chief Financial Officer as well as the Senior Vice

President responsible for the Asia Pacific Region. Prior to joining Amgen, Mr. Sears held senior planning and financial positions with Atlantic Richfield Company, an oil company from 1976 until 1986, including Chief Financial Officer for its Ventures Division. He earned a B.A. in economics from Claremont McKenna College and an M.B.A. from the Stanford University Graduate School of Business.

We believe that Mr. Sears is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his experience as a senior manager and director of private and publicly-traded companies, including several in the life sciences industry.

-13-

Cheryl L. Cohen has served on our board of directors since July 2015. Ms. Cohen served as chief commercial officer of Medivation, Inc., a publicly-traded bio-pharmaceutical company, from September 2011 until July 2014. Ms. Cohen currently serves as president of CLC Consulting, a pharmaceutical and biotechnology consulting firm specializing in new product start-up and commercialization, where she also served as president from September 2008 until September 2011. From November 2007 to September 2008, she served as the vice president, strategic commercial group, of Health Care Systems, Inc., a Johnson & Johnson company, and from October 1998 to November 2007, she worked at Janssen Biotech, Inc. (formerly Centocor Biotech, Inc.), a Johnson & Johnson company, in a variety of senior sales roles including vice president, rheumatology franchise. Ms. Cohen has served on the board of Tokai Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a publicly-traded pharmaceutical company focused on new treatments for prostate cancer, since April 2015, the board of Cytrx Corporation, a publicly-traded bio-pharmaceutical company specializing in oncology, since June 2015, and the board of Protein Sciences Corporation, a privately held bio-pharmaceutical company specializing in vaccine development since October 2014. Ms. Cohen began her career at Solvay Pharmaceuticals in a variety of sales positions. Ms. Cohen received her B.A. from Saint Joseph College.

We believe that Ms. Cohen is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on her experience as an executive officer and director of private and publicly-traded companies, including companies in the pharmaceutical and bio-pharmaceutical industries.

Director Independence

As a company listed on The NASDAQ Global Market we are required under the listing rules of NASDAQ, or the NASDAQ listing rules, to maintain a board comprised of a majority of independent directors as determined affirmatively by our board. In addition, the NASDAQ listing rules require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of our audit, compensation and nominating and governance committees must be independent. Audit committee members and compensation committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 and Rule 10C-1, respectively, under the Exchange Act. Under the NASDAQ listing rules, a director will only qualify as an "independent director" if, in the opinion of our board of directors, the director does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

Our board of directors has undertaken a review of the independence of our directors and considered whether any director has a material relationship with us that could compromise his or her ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his or her responsibilities. Based upon information requested from and provided by each director concerning his or her background, employment and affiliations, including family relationships, our board of directors has determined that none of Drs. Millis and Steer, Ms. Cohen and Messrs. Satter, Bienaimé, Croxford, Godshall, Halperin and Sears, representing nine of our ten directors, has a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director and that each of these directors is an "independent director" as that term is defined under the NASDAQ listing rules. Dr. Winters is not considered an independent director because of his position as our chief executive officer.

In making these determinations, our board of directors considered the relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances our board of directors deemed relevant in determining their independence, including consulting relationships, family relationships and the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director.

-14-

Board Leadership Structure and Lead Director

Our board of directors is currently co-chaired by our Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Winters, and our Lead Director, Mr. Satter. Our Fourth Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2013, as amended, or Senior Preferred IRA, provides that for so long as Mr. Satter and Dr. Winters both serve as members of our board of directors, each shall serve as Co-Chairman of our board of directors and Mr. Satter shall serve as our Lead Director. In the event that Mr. Satter serves as a member of our board of directors at a time when Dr. Winters does not, Mr. Satter will serve as our Chairman of the board and Lead Director. Dr. Winters will serve as Co-Chairman only so long as he is both a director and our Chief Executive Officer.

As Lead Director, Mr. Satter, among other responsibilities, coordinates the scheduling of, and prepares the agenda for, meetings of our board of directors, stockholders and independent directors, presides (or designates another director to preside) over such meetings, and defines the scope, quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between management and our board of directors that is necessary for our board of directors to effectively and responsibly perform its duties. While we have offered Mr. Satter the same compensation for his service as a member of our board of directors and as Lead Director as we pay to each other non-employee member of our board of directors, Mr. Satter has declined to receive (and has not received) any compensation for his service on our board of directors or as Lead Director.

Our board of directors believes that the Company and its stockholders are currently best served by having Dr. Winters and Mr. Satter serve as Co-Chairmen of the Board and Mr. Satter serve as Lead Director. As Co-Chairmen, Dr. Winters and Mr. Satter promote unified leadership and direction for our board and management and provide the critical leadership necessary for carrying out the Company's strategic initiatives. As Lead Director, Mr. Satter, together with our board's strong committee system and substantial majority of independent directors, allow our board to maintain effective oversight of our business operations, including independent oversight of our financial statements, executive compensation, selection of director candidates, and corporate governance programs. We believe our current board leadership structure enhances the board's ability to effectively carry out its roles and responsibilities on behalf of our stockholders.

Role of Board in Risk Oversight Process

Our board has an active role, as a whole and also at the committee level, in overseeing the management of our risks. Our board is responsible for general oversight of risks and regular review of information regarding our risks, including financial, strategic, and operational risks. The compensation committee is responsible for overseeing the management of risks relating to our executive compensation plans and arrangements, and whether our compensation policies and programs have the potential to encourage excessive risk taking. The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the management of risks relating to accounting matters and financial reporting. The nominating and governance

committee is responsible for overseeing our corporate governance practices and the management of risks associated with the independence of the board and potential conflicts of interest. Although each committee is responsible for evaluating certain risks and overseeing the management of such risks, the entire board is regularly informed through discussions from committee members about such risks. The board believes its leadership structure is consistent with and supports the administration of its risk oversight function.

Board Meetings and Committees

During our fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, our board of directors held five meetings (including regularly scheduled and special meetings), and each director attended at least 75% of the aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of our board of directors held during the period for which he has been a director and

-15-

(ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of our board of directors on which he served during the periods that he served.

Although we do not have a formal policy regarding attendance by members of our board of directors at annual meetings of stockholders, we encourage, but do not require, our directors to attend. We have scheduled our 2015 annual stockholder meeting on the same day as a regularly scheduled board meeting in order to facilitate attendance by our board members.

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee, a nominating and governance committee, and a quality and technology committee. The composition and responsibilities of each of the committees of our board of directors is described below.

Audit Committee

The members of our audit committee are Messrs. Godshall, Halperin and Sears. Mr. Sears is the chairman of our audit committee. Our board of directors has determined that each of the members of our audit committee is an independent director under the NASDAQ listing rules, satisfies the additional independence criteria for audit committee members and satisfies the requirements for financial literacy under the NASDAQ listing rules and Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act, as applicable. Our board has also determined that Mr. Sears qualifies as an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and satisfies the financial sophistication requirements of the NASDAQ listing rules.

Our audit committee oversees our corporate accounting and financial reporting process and assists our board of directors in monitoring our financial systems and our legal and regulatory compliance. Our audit committee also:

oversees the work of our independent auditors;

- approves the hiring, discharging and compensation of our independent auditors;
- approves engagements of the independent auditors to render any audit or permissible non-audit services;
 - reviews the qualifications, independence and performance of the independent auditors;

		C . 1		•.•		1	1
•	reviews ou	r financial	statements and	our critica	Laccounting	policies ai	nd estimates:

reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls;

reviews our policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management;

reviews and monitors our policies and procedures relating to related person transactions; and

reviews and discusses with management and the independent auditors the results of our annual audit, our quarterly financial statements and our publicly filed reports.

Our audit committee operates under a written charter approved by our board of directors and that satisfies the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing requirements of NASDAQ. The charter is available on our website at http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/corporate-governance.cfm. Our audit committee held five meetings during 2014.

-16-

Compensation Committee

The members of our compensation committee are Messrs. Bienaimé, Satter and Sears and Dr. Steer. Dr. Steer is the chairman of our compensation committee. Our board of directors has determined that each member of our compensation committee is an independent director under the current rules of NASDAQ, satisfies the additional independence criteria for compensation committee members under Rule 10C-1 and the NASDAQ listing rules, is a "non-employee director" within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, and is an "outside director" for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Our compensation committee oversees our corporate compensation programs. The compensation committee also:

reviews and recommends for approval by the members of our board of directors policies, plans and arrangements relating to compensation and benefits of our officers and employees;

reviews and recommends for approval by the members of our board of directors corporate goals and objectives relevant to compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers;

- evaluates the performance of our executive officers in light of established goals and objectives;
- recommends compensation of our executive officers based on its evaluations;
- · reviews and discusses with management the compensation discussion and analysis required by SEC rules;

engages a compensation consultant, legal counsel or other advisors (other than in-house counsel) to advise on executive compensation and assess the independence of each in accordance with NASDAQ;

evaluates whether any compensation consultant, legal counsel or other advisor (other than in-house legal counsel) has a conflict of interest in accordance with the SEC rules; and

prepares the annual compensation committee report required by SEC rules.

Our compensation committee operates under a written charter approved by our board of directors and that satisfies the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing requirements of NASDAQ. The charter is available on our

website at http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/corporate-governance.cfm. Our compensation committee held two meetings during 2014.

Nominating and Governance Committee

The members of our nominating and governance committee are Messrs. Halperin and Satter and Dr. Millis. Mr. Halperin serves as the chairman. Our board of directors has determined that each member of our nominating and governance committee is independent under the NASDAQ listing rules.

Our nominating and governance committee oversees and assists our board of directors in reviewing and recommending nominees for election as directors. The nominating and governance committee also:

-17-

evaluates and makes recommendations regarding the organization and governance of our board of directors and its committees;

assesses the performance of members of our board of directors and makes recommendations regarding committee and chair assignments;

recommends desired qualifications for board of director membership and conducts searches for potential members of our board of directors; and

reviews and makes recommendations with regard to our corporate governance guidelines.

Our nominating and governance committee operates under a written charter approved by our board of directors and that satisfies the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing requirements of NASDAQ. The charter is available on our website at http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/corporate-governance.cfm. Our nominating and governance committee held two meetings during 2014.

Quality and Technology Committee

Our quality and technology committee provides assistance to our board of directors in its oversight of product quality and safety, manufacturing practices, scientific and technical direction and human and animal studies. The members of our quality and technology committee are Drs. Millis and Steer and Mr. Croxford. Dr. Millis is the chairman of our quality and technology committee. Our quality and technology committee operates under a written charter approved by our board of directors. The charter is available on our website at http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/corporate-governance.cfm. Our quality and technology committee held twelve meetings

during 2014.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2014, the members of our compensation committee were, and currently are, Messrs. Satter, Sears and Bienaimé, and Dr. Steer. None of the members of our compensation committee is or has been an officer or employee of our company. None of our executive officers currently serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of the compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) or director of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our compensation committee or our board of directors.

Considerations in Evaluating Director Nominees

In its evaluation of director candidates, including the members of the board of directors eligible for reelection, our nominating and governance committee considers the following:

•The current size and composition of our board of directors and the needs of the board and its respective committees;

Factors such as character, integrity, judgment, diversity of experience, independence, area of expertise, corporate experience, length of service, potential conflicts of interest, other commitments, and the like. Our nominating and governance committee evaluates these factors, among others, and does not assign any particular weighting or priority to any of these factors; and

Other factors that our nominating and governance committee may consider appropriate.

-18-

The nominating and governance committee also focuses on issues of diversity, such as diversity in experience, international perspective, background, expertise, skills, age, gender, and ethnicity. The nominating and governance committee does not have a formal policy with respect to diversity; however, our board of directors and the nominating and governance committee believe that it is essential that members of our board of directors represent diverse viewpoints. Any nominee for a position on the board must satisfy the following minimum qualifications:

The highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

- · Proven achievement and competence in the nominee's field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment;
 - Skills that are complementary to those of the existing board;
- · The ability to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the company's success; and

An understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities required of a member of the board and the commitment of time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities.

If our nominating and governance committee determines that an additional or replacement director is required, the committee may take such measures as it considers appropriate in connection with its evaluation of a director candidate, including candidate interviews, inquiry of the person or persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance on the knowledge of the members of the committee, board, or management.

After completing its review and evaluation of director candidates, our nominating and governance committee recommends to our full board of directors the director nominees for selection. Our nominating and governance committee has discretion to decide which individuals to recommend for nomination as directors and our board of directors has the final authority in determining the selection of director candidates for nomination to our board.

Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to Our Board

It is the policy of our nominating and governance committee to consider recommendations for candidates to our board of directors from our stockholders. A stockholder that wishes to recommend a candidate for consideration by the committee as a potential candidate for director must direct the recommendation in writing to Vital Therapies, Inc., 15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92128, Attention: Secretary, and must include the

candidate's name, home and business contact information, detailed biographical data, relevant qualifications, a signed letter from the candidate confirming willingness to serve, information regarding any relationships between us and the candidate and evidence of the recommending stockholder's ownership of our stock. Such recommendation must also include a statement from the recommending stockholder in support of the candidate, particularly within the context of the criteria for board membership, including issues of character, integrity, judgment, diversity of experience, independence, area of expertise, corporate experience, potential conflicts of interest, other commitments and the like and personal references. Our nominating and governance committee will consider the recommendation but will not be obligated to take any further action with respect to the recommendation.

-19-

Communications with the Board of Directors

In cases where stockholders or other interested parties wish to communicate directly with our non-management directors, messages can be sent to Vital Therapies, Inc., Attention: Secretary, 10510 Avenue of Science, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92128. Our secretary monitors these communications and will provide a summary of all received messages to the board at each regularly scheduled meeting of the board. Our board generally meets on a quarterly basis. Where the nature of a communication warrants, our secretary may determine, in his or her judgment, to obtain the more immediate attention of the appropriate committee of the board or non-management director, of independent advisors or of our management, as our secretary considers appropriate.

Our secretary may decide in the exercise of his or her judgment whether a response to any stockholder or interested party communication is necessary.

This procedure for stockholder and other interested party communications with the non-management directors is administered by the Company's nominating and governance committee. This procedure does not apply to (a) communications to non-management directors from our officers or directors who are stockholders or (b) stockholder proposals submitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. A copy of the code of business conduct is available on the corporate governance section of our website, which is located at http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/corporate-governance.cfm. If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant any

http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/corporate-governance.cfm. If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant any waivers from, the code of business conduct and ethics for any officer or director, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website.

Director Compensation

Fiscal 2014 Director Compensation Program

In May 2013, our board of directors adopted a non-employee director compensation policy for our non-employee directors (other than Mr. Satter, who has elected not to receive any compensation for his service as co-chairman or as a director), which provided for the following compensation to our non-employee directors:

\$30,000 per year for service as a board member;

\$7,500 per year additionally for service as chairman of the audit committee;

\$7,500 per year additionally for service as an audit committee member;

\$5,000 per year additionally for service as chairman of the compensation committee;

\$5,000 per year additionally for service as a compensation committee member;

\$5,000 per year additionally for service as chairman of the nominating and governance committee; and

\$5,000 per year additionally for service as a nominating and governance committee member.

In addition to the fees listed above, each director received \$2,500 for each board of directors meeting in excess of four meetings per year and \$500 for each telephonic meeting.

Pursuant to this policy, except as approved by our board of directors, each new non-employee director received an initial grant of 50,175 non-qualified common stock options at an exercise price of at least the then fair value of one share of our common stock on the date of grant, vesting monthly over four years, subject to the director's continued service with us.

New Director Compensation Program

In December 2014, our compensation committee retained Aon Hewitt to, among other things, provide recommendations on non-employee director compensation based on an analysis of market data compiled from comparable companies in the biotechnology industry. Based upon the recommendations of Aon Hewitt, our compensation committee recommended to our board an outside director compensation policy, which would supersede our then-existing non-employee director compensation policy. On March 18, 2015, upon the recommendation of our compensation committee, our board adopted the new outside director compensation policy. Under this outside director compensation policy, all non-employee directors are entitled to receive the following cash compensation for their services:

- \$35,000 per year for service as a member of our board;
- \$7,500 per year additionally for service as chairman of the audit committee;
- \$7,500 per year additionally for service as an audit committee member;
- \$5,000 per year additionally for service as chairman of the compensation committee;
 - \$5,000 per year additionally for service as a compensation committee member;
- \$5,000 per year additionally for service as chairman of the nominating and governance committee;

- \$5,000 per year additionally for service as a nominating and governance committee member;
- \$5,000 per year additionally for service as chairman of the quality and technology committee;
 - \$5,000 per year additionally for service as a quality and technology committee member.

All cash payments to non-employee directors are paid quarterly in arrears on a prorated basis. In addition, each non-employee director is paid a per-meeting attendance fee of \$500 for attending telephonic meetings of the board, and a per-meeting attendance fee of \$2,500 for attending in-person meetings of the board in excess of four in-person meetings per year. We also reimburse our directors for their reasonable expenses incurred in connection with attending board and committee meetings.

In addition to cash compensation, our non-employee directors are also entitled to equity awards under our outside director compensation policy. Each non-employee director who first joins us will be automatically granted an initial award of a nonstatutory stock option with a Black-Scholes value of approximately \$220,000 on the date of grant. In addition, on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders

-21-

(commencing with our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders), each non-employee director who has been a non-employee director for 6 months or more on the date of the annual meeting will be automatically granted an annual award of a nonstatutory stock option with a Black-Scholes value of approximately \$110,000 on the date of grant. The initial award will vest in 48 equal monthly installments subject to the director's continued service with us. The annual award will vest in full on the earlier to occur of the one-year anniversary of its grant date or the day prior to the next annual meeting of stockholders subject to continued service with us.

In the event of a "change of control," as defined in our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, with respect to awards granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan to outside directors, the participant outside director will fully vest in and have the right to exercise awards as to all shares underlying such award regardless of performance goals, vesting criteria, or other conditions.

In connection with the board's approval of the outside director compensation policy in March 2015, our board granted each non-employee director (other than Mr. Satter) a stock option to purchase 5,604 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$26.13 per share, which will vest in full on the earlier to occur of the one-year anniversary from March 24, 2015 or the day prior to our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders. In addition, in connection with her appointment to our board of directors, Ms. Cohen was granted an option to purchase 12,581 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$26.71 per share, which will vest in 48 equal monthly installments subject to her continued service with us.

Our co-chairman, Muneer Satter, has declined board compensation and accordingly, will not receive the cash or equity compensation discussed above.

Director Compensation Table

The following table summarizes compensation paid or accrued for services rendered to us by members of our board of directors for the year ended December 31, 2014. The table excludes (i) Dr. Winters, who is a named executive officer and did not receive any compensation from us in his role as co-chairman and as a director in 2014, (ii) Mr. Satter, who has declined board compensation from us in his role as co-chairman and as a director and therefore did not receive any compensation from us in 2014, and (iii) Ms. Cohen, who was not appointed to our board until July 2015. Neither Mr. Satter nor Ms. Cohen had any stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014. See the section below entitled "Executive Compensation" for information about the compensation of Dr. Winters.

Edgar Filing: VITAL THERAPIES INC - Form DEF 14A

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Option Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾	All Other Compensation (2)	Total (\$)
Jean-Jacques Bienaimé	38,000	25,500 (3) —	63,500
Philip M. Croxford	37,375	8,308 (4) —	45,683
Douglas E. Godshall	39,250	69,242 (5) —	108,492
Errol R. Halperin	46,125	45,791 (6) —	91,916
J. Michael Millis, M.D.	45,500	(7	33,500	79,000
Lowell E. Sears	50,500	69,242 (8) —	119,742
Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D.	50,500	(9) —	50,500

The amounts in the "Option Awards" column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted during the calendar year computed in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718. The assumptions that we used to calculate these amounts are discussed in Note 9 to our financial statements appearing at the end of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. These amounts do not reflect the actual economic value that will be realized by the director upon the vesting of the stock options, the exercise of the stock options, or the sale of the common stock underlying such stock options. Mr. Satter, Co-Chairman and a director of the

company, has no stock options. As of December 31, 2014, Dr. Winters, our Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer had outstanding and unexercised option awards for 515,066 shares.

- (2) Dr. Millis was paid an aggregate of \$33,500 in consideration for services as a consultant and for services rendered as chair of our Clinical Advisory Board in fiscal 2014.
- Mr. Bienaimé had a total of 75,000 stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014. In February 2014, this option grant was re-priced, lowering the exercise price from \$10.50 to \$8.00 per share. The amount in this column reflects the incremental fair value of the option awards as of the modification date, computed in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718.
 - (4) Mr. Croxford had a total of 39,191 stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014.
 - (5) Mr. Godshall had a total of 94,818 stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014.
 - (6) Mr. Halperin had a total of 39,699 stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014.
 - (7) Dr. Millis had a total of 33,834 stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014.
 - (8) Mr. Sears had a total of 94,818 stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014.
 - (9) Dr. Steer had a total of 50,175 stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014.

PROPOSAL NUMBER 1 ELECTION OF CLASS I DIRECTORS

Our board of directors is currently composed of ten directors and is divided into three staggered classes of directors. At the annual meeting, three Class I directors will be elected to our board of directors by the holders of our common stock to succeed the same class whose term is then expiring. Each director's term continues until the election and qualification of his or her successor, or such director's earlier death, resignation or removal.

Certain of our stockholders affiliated with Mr. Satter, referred to as the Satter Investors, retain, contractual rights to nominate up to 30% of our directors, as provided in the Senior Preferred IRA. To date, the Satter Investors have not exercised their rights to designate any candidates for nomination but have reserved the right to do so in the future. As the Satter Investors' ownership percentage decreases, their right to nominate directors similarly decreases.

Nominees for Director

Our nominating and governance committee recommended for nomination, and our board of directors nominated, Terence E. Winters, Ph.D., Philip M. Croxford, and Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D., each a current Class I director, as nominees for reelection as Class I directors at the annual meeting. If elected, each of Drs. Winters and Steer and Mr. Croxford will serve as a Class I director until the 2018 annual meeting and until his respective successor is duly elected and qualified. For more information concerning the nominees, please see the section entitled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance."

Drs. Winters and Steer and Mr. Croxford have agreed to serve if elected, and management has no reason to believe that they will be unavailable to serve. In the event a nominee is unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the annual meeting, proxies will be voted for any nominee who may be proposed by the nominating and governance committee and designated by the present board of directors to fill the vacancy.

Required Vote

The Class I directors elected to the board of directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the holders of shares present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the election of directors. In other words, the three nominees receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes will be elected as Class I directors. Shares represented by executed proxies will be voted, if authority to do so is not expressly withheld, for the election of Terence E. Winters,

Ph.D., Philip M. Croxford, and Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D. Broker non-votes will have no effect on this proposal.

Board Recommendation

Our board of directors recommends a vote "FOR" the election to the board of directors of Terence E. Winters, Ph.D., Philip M. Croxford, and Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D. as Class I directors.

-24-

PROPOSAL NUMBER 2 RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Our audit committee has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm to audit our consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2015. During 2014, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP served as our independent registered public accounting firm.

Notwithstanding its appointment and even if our stockholders ratify the appointment, our audit committee, in its discretion, may appoint another independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if the audit committee believes that such a change would be in the best interests of Vital Therapies and its stockholders. Our audit committee is submitting the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to our stockholders because we value our stockholders' views on our independent registered public accounting firm and as a matter of good corporate governance. If the appointment is not ratified by our stockholders, our audit committee may reconsider whether it should appoint another independent registered public accounting firm. A representative of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is expected to attend the annual meeting, where he or she will be available to respond to appropriate questions and, if he or she desires, to make a statement.

Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The following table represents aggregate fees for services provided to us in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our principal accountant. All fees below were pre-approved by the audit committee:

Fiscal Year Ended			
2014	2013		
\$793,113	\$1,496,640		
1,800	1,800		
\$794,913	\$1,498,440		
	2014 \$793,113 — — 1,800		

⁽¹⁾ Audit fees consist of fees incurred for professional services by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for audit and quarterly reviews of our financial statements, reviews of our registration statements on Form S-1 and Form S-8 and

related services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

- (2) We did not engage PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to perform audit-related services.
- (3) We did not engage PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to perform tax advisory services.
 - (4) Represents annual licensing fees for an accounting database subscription.

-25-

Auditor Independence

In 2014, there were no other professional services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP that would have required our audit committee to consider their compatibility with maintaining the independence of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Pre-Approval Policy

Our audit committee's policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent accountants. These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. Our audit committee generally pre-approves particular services or categories of services on a case-by-case basis. The independent registered public accounting firm and management are required to periodically report to our audit committee regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with these pre-approvals, and the fees for the services performed to date. All of the services of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for 2014 and 2013 described above were pre-approved by our audit committee.

Required Vote

Ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2015 requires the affirmative "FOR" vote of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal. You may vote "FOR," "AGAINST," or "ABSTAIN" on this proposal. Abstentions have the same effect as a vote against the proposal. Broker non-votes will not affect the outcome of voting on this proposal.

Board Recommendation

Our board of directors recommends a vote "FOR" the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2015.

Report of the Audit Committee

The audit committee is a committee of the board of directors comprised solely of independent directors as required by the listing standards of NASDAQ and rules and regulations of the SEC. The audit committee operates under a written charter approved by Vital Therapies' board of directors, which is available on Vital Therapies' web site at http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/corporate-governance.cfm. The composition of the audit committee, the attributes of its members and the responsibilities of the audit committee, as reflected in its charter, are intended to be in accordance with applicable requirements for corporate audit committees. The audit committee reviews and assesses the adequacy of its charter and the audit committee's performance on an annual basis.

With respect to Vital Therapies' financial reporting process, Vital Therapies' management is responsible for (1) establishing and maintaining internal controls and (2) preparing Vital Therapies' consolidated financial statements. Vital Therapies' independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, or PwC, is responsible for performing an independent audit of Vital Therapies' consolidated financial statements in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), or PCAOB, and to issue a report thereon. It is the responsibility of the audit committee to oversee these activities. It is not the responsibility of the audit committee to prepare Vital Therapies' financial statements. These are the fundamental responsibilities of management. In the performance of its oversight function, the audit committee has:

· reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for fiscal year 2014 with management of Vital Therapies;

discussed with PwC, Vital Therapies' independent registered public accounting firm, the matters required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 16, *Communications with Audit Committees*, as adopted by the PCAOB;

received the written disclosures and the letter from PwC as required by applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent registered public accounting firm's communications with the audit committee concerning independence, and has discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLC that firm's independence.

Based on the audit committee's review of the audited financial statements and the various discussions with management and PwC, the audit committee recommended to the board of directors that the audited financial statements be included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 for filing with the SEC. The audit committee has also appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2015.

The Audit Committee

Lowell E. Sears (Chair) Douglas E. Godshall Errol R. Halperin

This report of the audit committee shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A promulgated by the SEC or Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any prior or subsequent filing by Vital Therapies under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent Vital Therapies specifically requests that the information be treated as "soliciting material" or specifically incorporates it by reference.

-27-

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The names of our executive officers, their ages, their positions with Vital Therapies and other biographical information as of September 22, 2015 are set forth below. There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

Name	Age	Position
Terence E. Winters, Ph.D.	73	Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Robert A. Ashley	57	Executive Vice President and Chief Technical Officer
Duane Nash, M.D.	44	Executive Vice President and Chief Business Officer
Michael V. Swanson	60	Chief Financial Officer
Aron P. Stern	61	Chief Administrative Officer
John M. Dunn	63	General Counsel and Secretary
Andrew Henry	51	Vice President, Clinical Operations
Andrea Loewen	48	Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality
Richard Murawski	67	Vice President, Manufacturing
Aron P. Stern John M. Dunn Andrew Henry Andrea Loewen	61 63 51 48	Chief Administrative Officer General Counsel and Secretary Vice President, Clinical Operations Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality

Terence E. Winters, Ph.D. Please see the biographical information above in the section entitled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance – Nominees for Director".

Robert A. Ashley, M.A. has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Technical Officer since September 2013. Between May 2008 and September 2013 he served as our Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Ashley's career in the pharmaceutical industry extends for 34 years. He was formerly Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of AmpliMed Corporation, a privately-held cancer drug development company, from January 2004 to March 2007, and Senior Vice President of Commercial Development at CollaGenex Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a publicly-held pharmaceutical company, from September 1994 to December 2003. Prior to that he held positions of increasing responsibility at Bristol-Myers Squibb from January 1989 to September 1994, and with Amersham International from 1979 to 1989. He earned a Master's Degree in Biochemistry from Oxford University. Mr. Ashley is the inventor of several issued and pending patents, as well as the author of several scientific papers. He serves on the Board of Directors of Rowpar Pharmaceuticals, a privately-held manufacturer of proprietary dental pharmaceuticals.

Duane Nash, M.D., J.D. has served as our Executive Vice President since May 2013 and as our Chief Business Officer since March 2012. Between March 2012 and May 2013, he also served as our Medical Director. Dr. Nash completed his internship in general surgery at the University of California at San Francisco during which he served as a member of the liver transplant team. Dr. Nash also practiced as an attorney from November 2002 to February 2008, most recently at the law firm of Davis Polk, where he focused on intellectual property litigation and corporate matters. Dr. Nash joined Vital Therapies from Wedbush PacGrow Life Sciences where he was employed from March 2009 to March 2012 serving most recently as Vice President in Equity Research. Before that he was a research analyst at

Pacific Growth Equities from April 2008 through March 2009, which was subsequently acquired by Wedbush Securities, Inc. Dr. Nash has served on the board of directors of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly-traded biotech company focused on the treatment of anemia and vascular disease, since May 2013, and on the board of directors of Aerpio Therapeutics Inc., a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on advancing innovative therapies for vascular diseases, since September 2012. Dr. Nash earned a B.A. in biology from Williams College, an M.D. from Dartmouth Medical School, a J.D. from the University of California, Berkeley, and an M.B.A. from the University of Oxford.

-28-

Michael V. Swanson, M.B.A. joined us in August 2013 as our Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Swanson has over 20 years of experience in senior financial positions in both public and private life sciences companies. Mr. Swanson was Chief Financial Officer of Amira Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a pharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and early development of drugs to treat inflammatory and fibrotic diseases, from May 2008 until the company was acquired in September 2011, and of Panmira Pharmaceuticals, LLC, a spin out from Amira from September to December 2011. Since January 2012, Mr. Swanson has been providing financial consulting services to development stage companies. From July 2000 to April 2008, Mr. Swanson served in senior finance positions including Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer at Prometheus Laboratories Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company marketing and selling pharmaceutical products and diagnostic testing services for gastrointestinal diseases and disorders. Previously, Mr. Swanson was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Advanced Tissue Sciences, Inc., a publicly-traded biomedical company, where he served in senior financial positions for over ten years. Mr. Swanson also served as Director of Finance of the Fisher Scientific Group, Inc., a health and scientific technology company, and its parent, The Henley Group, Inc., a widely diversified holding company. Mr. Swanson began his career working approximately nine years with the public accounting firm of Deloitte Haskins & Sells, now Deloitte & Touche LLP. Mr. Swanson earned a B.S. in business administration from the California Polytechnic State University at San Luis Obispo and an M.B.A. from the University of Southern California. He is also a Certified Public Accountant (inactive).

Aron P. Stern, M.B.A. has served as our Chief Administrative Officer since August 2013 and as our Secretary from October 2005 to February 2015. Between June 2003 and August 2013, Mr. Stern served as our Treasurer, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Stern has over 20 years of experience in capital formation, acquisitions, financial strategy and financial and operational management in growth-stage high technology and biotechnology companies. He previously was Chief Financial Officer at each of Protein Polymer Technologies, Inc., a developer of a protein-based technology, 4-D Neuroimaging, a medical equipment manufacturing company, and VitaGen, Inc., our predecessor company. Mr. Stern also held positions at Apple Computer and Isis Pharmaceuticals, a developer of antisense drugs. Mr. Stern earned a B.S. in economics and business administration and an M.B.A. in finance and marketing from the University of California, Berkeley.

John M. Dunn has served as our General Counsel since November 2014 and as our Secretary since February 2015. Mr. Dunn has over 25 years of national law firm and in-house general counsel experience. Mr. Dunn was Senior Vice President Legal and Compliance, General Counsel and Secretary of IDEC Pharmaceuticals from 2002 until its merger with Biogen in late 2003. From 2004 to 2012, Mr. Dunn served as an Executive Vice President at Biogen Idec where he was in charge of Biogen Idec's internal corporate venture fund and Innovation Incubator. Most recently, Mr. Dunn has been providing legal and corporate development advisory services to emerging life science companies. Previously, Mr. Dunn was a partner for 16 years in the Corporate, Securities and Technology Group at the Pillsbury Winthrop law firm where his practice focused on the healthcare industry. Mr. Dunn earned a B.S. in finance and his J.D. from the University of Wyoming. He serves as an advisor to TVM Capital, a life science venture capital firm and is a member of the Board of Directors of Agility-Clinical, a privately held consulting and contract research organization.

Andrew Henry has served as our Vice President of Clinical Operations since April 2013. Mr. Henry is responsible for the global implementation of our clinical program. Mr. Henry has 25 years of experience managing clinical trials in life science companies with roles at Schering-Plough Oncology, Novartis Oncology and MedImmune. Between

January 2009 and February 2013, Mr. Henry served as Senior Director of Clinical Trial Management and Senior Director of Global Clinical Operational Strategy of MedImmune, a biopharmaceutical company that is under AstraZeneca's biologics division. At MedImmune Mr. Henry oversaw operations of all clinical studies being performed by the company across all therapeutic areas. From

-29-

November 1997 to August 2008, Mr. Henry held roles as Senior Clinical Research Scientist and Head Clinical Resources and Development Director at Novartis Oncology, an ethical pharmaceutical company, where he oversaw clinical studies and the Department of Clinical Research Scientists/Clinical Trial Heads. Mr. Henry earned a B.S. in biology and biopsychology from William Paterson University.

Andrea Loewen has served as our Vice President of Regulatory Affairs and Quality since July 2013 and oversees our quality and regulatory systems and develops regulatory strategies. Ms. Loewen has 24 years of experience in regulatory and quality management roles, including positions at Baxter Healthcare, Biogen Idec, and Shire Pharmaceuticals. From June 2009 to July 2013, she served as the Head of Regulatory Affairs for Shire Pharmaceuticals Regenerative Medicine business unit, where she was responsible for global regulatory strategy and filings for development stage and commercial combination products. Between March 2008 and June 2009, Ms. Loewen served as Senior Director of Regulatory Affairs for Ceregene, Inc., a development stage biotech company, and was responsible for global regulatory strategy and filings for combination products. Ms. Loewen earned her B.A. in biology from Gustavus Adolphus College.

Richard Murawski has served as our Vice President of Manufacturing since July 2013. Mr. Murawski has more than 40 years of experience in manufacturing facility design, construction, start-up, validation, and supply chain management, both domestically and internationally, including 17 major plant start-ups. From February 2013 to July 2013, Mr. Murawski was self-employed as a consultant. From June 2010 to February 2013, Mr. Murawski served as the Vice President/General Manager for Dendreon Corporation, a biotech manufacturing company, with responsibility for, among others, manufacturing, engineering, materials management, and facilities. Between June 2008 and July 2010, Mr. Murawski served as Chief Executive Officer of Murawski and Associates, a biotech consulting company, where he consulted companies on managing operations and biopharmaceutical facilities. From June 2002 to July 2008, Mr. Murawski served as Senior Vice President of Operations and Corporate Officer of Favrille, Inc., a biotech manufacturing company, and was responsible for manufacturing, engineering, materials management, facilities, technical services, and environmental, health and safety functions. Mr. Murawski earned his B.S. in chemical engineering from the Newark College of Engineering at the New Jersey Institute of Technology.

-30-

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Processes and Procedures for Executive and Director Compensation

Our compensation committee assists the board in discharging the board's responsibilities relating to oversight of the compensation of our chief executive officer and our other executive officers, including reviewing and making recommendations to the board with respect to the compensation, plans, policies and programs for our chief executive officer and our other executive officers and administering our equity compensation plans for our executive officers and employees.

Our compensation committee annually reviews the compensation, plans, policies and programs for our chief executive officer and our other executive officers. In connection therewith, our compensation committee considers, among other things, each executive officer's performance in light of established individual and corporate goals and objectives and the recommendations of our chief executive officer. In particular, our compensation committee considers the recommendations of our chief executive officer when reviewing base salary and incentive performance compensation levels of our executive officers and when setting specific individual and corporate performance targets under our annual incentive bonus plan for our executive officers. Our chief executive officer has no input and is not present during voting or deliberations about his compensation. Our compensation committee may delegate its authority to a subcommittee, but it may not delegate any power or authority required by agreement, law, regulation or listing standard to be exercised by the compensation committee as a whole.

Our nominating and governance committee has authority to review and recommend to the board compensation programs for our outside directors. Management generally does not have a role in the setting of director compensation. Our nominating and governance committee may delegate its authority to a subcommittee, but it may not delegate any power or authority required by agreement, law, regulation or listing standard to be exercised by the nominating and governance committee as a whole.

In December 2014, our compensation committee engaged Aon Hewitt, an independent compensation consultant, to assist the compensation committee in determining a peer group of companies based on our company's current stage of development for the comparison of executive and director compensation, to provide comparative data on executive and director compensation practices in our industry and to generally advise us on our executive and director compensation programs. The compensation committee had the sole authority to approve the terms of the engagement of Aon Hewitt. Although our board of directors and compensation committee consider the advice and recommendations of our independent compensation consultants as to our executive and director compensation programs, our board of directors and compensation committee ultimately make their own decisions about these matters.

Aon Hewitt did not provide any services to us or our compensation committee other than as described above. Our compensation committee periodically, and at least annually, considers and assesses Aon Hewitt's independence, including whether Aon Hewitt has any potential conflicts of interest with our company or members of the compensation committee, as set forth in Rule 10C-1(b)(4)(i) through (vi) under the Exchange Act. The most recent review was conducted in March 2015. Based on that review, our compensation committee concluded that it is not aware of any conflict of interest that has been raised by work performed by Aon Hewitt or the individual consultants employed by Aon Hewitt that perform services for the compensation committee.

-31-

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides information regarding the compensation of our chief executive officer, and each of the next two most highly compensated executive officers during 2014, together referred to as our "named executive officers," for 2014 and 2013, as applicable.

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Option Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation (\$) ⁽²⁾	All Other Compensation (\$) ⁽³⁾	Total (\$)
Terence E. Winters, Ph.D.	2014	450,000	_	171,900	16,010	637,910
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	2013	418,125	_	110,719	16,104	544,948
John M. Dunn, J.D. (4)	2014	35,625	665,120		_	700,745
General Counsel and Secretary						
Duane D. Nash, M.D., J.D. ⁽⁵⁾	2014	350,000		100,030		450,030
Executive Vice President, Chief Business						
Officer						

The amounts in the "Option Awards" column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted during the calendar year computed in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation. The assumptions that we used to calculate these amounts are discussed

- (1) in Note 9 to our financial statements appearing at the end of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. These amounts do not reflect the actual economic value that will be realized by the named executive officer upon the vesting of the stock options, the exercise of the stock options, or the sale of the common stock underlying such stock options.
- Amounts approved by our board of directors on February 2, 2015 under our Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (as described below).
- (3) Includes company-paid reimbursement for Medicare and prescription drug coverage. Mr. Dunn became a full-time employee in November 2014. In connection with his appointment as an executive (4) officer, our board of directors granted to Mr. Dunn an option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock on November 17, 2014 at an exercise price of \$19.03 per share.
 - (5) Dr. Nash was not a named executive officer in 2013.

Option Awards

In connection with the commencement of Mr. Dunn's employment with us and his appointment as one of our executive officers in November 2014, on November 17, 2014, our board of directors granted to Mr. Dunn an option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$19.03 per share. The shares subject to the option vest monthly over four years, subject to Mr. Dunn's continued service on each such date, and are otherwise subject to the terms of our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2014 Plan, and form of option agreement for our 2014 Plan. In connection with the option grant, Mr. Dunn entered into a standard form of option agreement under our 2014 Plan.

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation

Executive Incentive Compensation Plan

Our Executive Incentive Compensation Plan, or Incentive Plan, was adopted by our board of directors on July 8, 2013. Our Incentive Plan is administered by our compensation committee; provided, however, that our board of directors must approve any award or any amendment to any award made thereunder. Our compensation committee determines the performance goals applicable to any award, which goals may

-32-

include, without limitation, the attainment of research and development milestones, sales bookings, business divestitures and acquisitions, cash flow, cash position, earnings (which may include earnings before interest and taxes, earnings before taxes and net earnings) per share, net income, net profit, net sales, operating cash flow, operating expenses, operating income, operating margin, overhead or other expense reduction, product defect measures, product release timelines, productivity, profit, return on assets, return on capital, return on equity, return on investment, return on sales, revenue, revenue growth, sales results, sales growth, stock price, time to market, total shareholder return, working capital, and individual objectives such as peer reviews or other subjective or objective criteria. Performance goals that include the company's financial results may be determined in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, or such financial results may consist of non-GAAP financial measures. The performance goals may be on an individual, divisional, business unit, functional or company-wide basis. The performance goals may differ from participant to participant and from award to award.

Pursuant to the employment letter agreements entered into between us and our named executive officers, our named executive officers are each eligible to receive annual bonuses as a percentage of their annual base salary based upon achievement of the performance goals determined by our compensation committee. For additional information regarding the terms of these employment letter agreements, see below under "Agreements With Our Named Executive Officers."

Notwithstanding the eligibility for bonus awards, our board of directors may, in its sole discretion and at any time, increase, reduce or eliminate a participant's actual award, or increase, reduce or eliminate the amount allocated to the bonus pool for a particular performance period. The actual award may be below, at or above a participant's target award, in the discretion of our board. Our board may determine the amount of any reduction on the basis of such factors as it deems relevant, and it is not required to establish any allocation or weighting with respect to the factors it considers.

Actual awards are paid in cash only after they are earned, which usually requires continued employment through the date of payment of the award. Payment of bonuses occurs as soon as administratively practicable after they are earned, but no later than the dates set forth in the Incentive Plan.

Our board of directors has the authority to amend, alter, suspend or terminate the Incentive Plan provided such action does not impair the existing rights of any participant with respect to any earned bonus.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, bonus awards for our executive officers (other than Mr. Dunn) were based on the achievement of corporate performance goals, which carried a 50% weighting, and individual performance, which carried a 50% weighting, except with respect to Dr. Winters for whom a bonus award was based solely on the achievement of corporate performance goals. Our compensation committee established the categories of corporate performance goals as relating to the attainment of research and development milestones and financings. Our

compensation committee determined, and the independent members of our board approved, that the performance goals of our named executive officers (other than Mr. Dunn) were each met at approximately 95% of target and payments were approved at that payout percentage by our board on February 2, 2015. Mr. Dunn became a full-time employee in November 2014 and was not eligible for a bonus under the Executive Incentive Compensation Plan for fiscal 2014.

Agreements With Our Named Executive Officers

Terence E. Winters

We entered into an employment letter agreement, dated October 31, 2013, with Dr. Winters, which sets forth the terms and conditions of his employment with us. The employment letter agreement has no

-33-

specific term and provides for at-will employment. This agreement supersedes all then-existing agreements he may have with us concerning his employment relationship. Under Dr. Winters' employment letter agreement, Dr. Winters' annual base salary was \$450,000 and he was eligible for an annual bonus equal to 40% of his base salary for 2014. Effective as of March 13, 2015, Dr. Winters' current base salary is \$475,000 and he is eligible to receive an annual bonus equal to 50% of his base salary.

Duane Nash

We entered into an employment letter agreement, dated October 30, 2013, with Dr. Nash, our current Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer, which sets forth the terms and conditions of his employment with us. The employment letter agreement has no specific term and provides for at-will employment. This agreement supersedes all then-existing agreements he may have with us concerning his employment relationship. Under Dr. Nash's employment letter agreement, Dr. Nash's annual base salary was \$350,000 and he was eligible for an annual bonus equal to 30% of his annual base salary for 2014. Effective as of March 13, 2015, Dr. Nash's current base salary is \$360,000 and he is eligible to receive an annual bonus equal to 35% of his base salary.

John M. Dunn

We entered into an employment letter agreement, dated March 5, 2015, with Mr. Dunn, our current General Counsel and Secretary, which sets forth the terms and conditions of his employment with us. The employment letter agreement has no specific term and provides for at-will employment. Under Mr. Dunn's employment letter agreement, Mr. Dunn's annual base salary was \$285,000. Mr. Dunn was not eligible for an annual bonus in 2014. In addition, Mr. Dunn received an option grant to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock on November 17, 2014 at an exercise price per share of \$19.03 that vests over a period of four years from his employment start date in equal monthly installments, subject to Mr. Dunn continuing to provide services to us. Effective as of March 13, 2015, Mr. Dunn's current base salary is \$320,000 and he is eligible to receive an annual bonus equal to 30% of his base salary.

Executive Change of Control and Severance Agreements

We have entered into a change of control and severance agreement, with each of our executive officers, which require us to make payments if the executive officer's employment with us is terminated in certain circumstances.

If prior to the two-month period before or after the twelve-month period following a change of control (such period, the Change of Control Period), an executive officer's employment is terminated without "cause" or an executive officer resigns for "good reason" (as such terms are defined in the change of control and severance agreement), such officer will be eligible to receive the following benefits if such officer timely signs and does not revoke a release of claims:

· continued payment of base salary for a period of six months (12 months in the case of Dr. Winters); and

reimbursement by us for up to six months (12 months in the case of Dr. Winters) of COBRA premiums to continue health insurance coverage for such officer and such officer's eligible dependents, or taxable monthly payments for the equivalent period in the event payment for COBRA premiums would violate applicable law.

-34-

If, within the Change of Control Period, such officer's employment is terminated without cause or such officer resigns for good reason, such officer will be entitled to the following benefits if such officer timely signs a release of claims:

a lump sum payment equal to (x) 12 months (18 months in the case of Dr. Winters) his annual base salary (for the year of the change of control or such officer's termination, whichever is greater), plus (y) 1x (1.5x in the case of Dr. ·Winters) the greater of: (A) such officer's target annual bonus (for the year of the change of control or such officer's termination, whichever is greater) or (B) such officer's actual bonus for performance relating to the calendar year immediately prior to the calendar year of such officer's termination;

reimbursement by us for up to 12 months (18 months in the case of Dr. Winters) of COBRA premiums to continue health insurance coverage for such officer and such officer's eligible dependents, or taxable monthly payments for the equivalent period in the event payment for COBRA premiums would violate applicable law; and

100% accelerated vesting of all outstanding equity awards.

In addition, in the event any of the amounts provided for under these agreements or otherwise payable to our executive officers would constitute "parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code and could be subject to the related excise tax, the executive officer would be entitled to receive either full payment of benefits under this agreement or such lesser amount which would result in no portion of the benefits being subject to the excise tax, whichever results in the greater amount of after-tax benefits to the executive officer. The agreements do not require us to provide any tax gross-up payments.

Drs. Winters and Nash may become eligible for accelerated vesting of their option awards in connection with a change in control under our 2012 Stock Option Plan, or 2012 Plan, and option agreements under the 2012 Plan, as described below. The option grant to Mr. Dunn was made pursuant to our 2014 Plan, which provides for accelerated vesting in connection with a change in control in limited circumstances, as described below.

2014 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2014 Plan provides that in the event of a merger or change in control, as defined in the 2014 Plan, each outstanding award will be treated as the administrator determines, including, without limitation, that awards may be assumed or substituted for by the acquiring or succeeding corporation, awards may be terminated immediately prior to the consummation of the merger or change in control, awards may vest in whole or in part prior to or upon consummation of the merger or change in control and, to the extent the administrator determines, terminate on or immediately prior to the effectiveness of the merger or change in control, or awards may be terminated in exchange for cash or property or replaced with other rights or property. If a successor corporation does not assume or substitute

an equivalent award for any outstanding award, then such award will fully vest, all restrictions on such award will lapse and all performance goals or other vesting criteria applicable to such award will be deemed achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of target levels. Additionally, if a successor corporation does not assume or substitute an option or stock appreciation right, the administrator will notify the participant in writing or electronically that such award will be exercisable for a specified period of time determined by the administrator prior to the transaction, and such award will then terminate upon the expiration of such period.

In addition, pursuant to their stock option agreements, certain optionees, including our named executive officers who have awards under the 2014 Plan, are eligible for full vesting acceleration of their

-35-

outstanding options in the event their service is terminated other than for cause within twelve months following a change in control.

2012 Stock Option Plan and Option Agreements

Our 2012 Plan provides that in the event of a change in control, as defined in the 2012 Plan, the surviving, continuing, successor, or purchasing corporation or other business entity or parent thereof may assume or substitute an equivalent award for each outstanding option under the 2012 Plan. If there is no assumption or substitution of outstanding options, such options will terminate upon the expiration of a stated notice period.

In addition, pursuant to their stock option agreements, certain optionees, including our named executive officers who have awards under our 2012 Plan, are eligible for full vesting acceleration of their outstanding options in the event their service is terminated other than for cause or they resign from their service for good reason, in either case, within twelve months following a change in control.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2014 Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth certain information concerning outstanding equity awards for our named executive officers at December 31, 2014:

Name and Position	Vesting Commencement Date ⁽²⁾	nt	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable ⁽¹⁾	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Unexercisable	Option Exercise Price	Option Expiration Date
Terence E. Winters, Ph.D.	2/8/2012	(3)	128,394		\$ 0.43	3/31/2022
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	9/13/2012	(4)	386,672	_	\$ 8.00	9/25/2022
John M. Dunn, J.D.	11/17/2014	(5)	1,041	48,959	\$ 19.03	11/16/2024
General Counsel and Secretary						
Duane D. Nash, M.D., J.D.	2/8/2012	(6)	93,377		\$ 0.43	3/31/2022
Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer	4/25/2012	(7)	23,344	_	\$ 0.43	4/24/2022
	9/13/2012	(8)	241,670	_	\$ 8.00	9/25/2022

The options listed above to Dr. Winters and Dr. Nash are subject to an early exercise right and may be exercised in full prior to the vesting of the shares underlying such options. Any shares purchased by early exercising unvested

- options are subject to repurchase by the company in the event the optionee ceases providing services to the company and are released from this repurchase right in accordance with the options' original vesting schedule. Vesting of all options or early exercised shares is subject to continued service on the applicable vesting date. The option listed above for Mr. Dunn was granted under the 2014 Plan and, therefore, has no early exercise rights.
- (2) All options listed above vest in equal monthly installments over the four year period following the vesting commencement date.
- (3) 73,923, or 58%, of the shares subject to Dr. Winters' outstanding options were vested as of December 31, 2014.
 - 217,502, or 56%, of the shares subject to these options were vested as of December 31, 2014. (4)
 - 1,041, or 2%, of the shares subject to these options were vested as of December 31, 2014. (5)
 - (6) 66,142, or 71%, of the shares subject to these options were vested as of December 31, 2014.
 - 15,562, or 67%, of the shares subject to these options were vested as of December 31, 2014. (7) 135,939, or 56%, of the shares subject to these options were vested as of December 31, 2014.
- -36-

(8)

Perquisites, Health, Welfare and Retirement Benefits

Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in our employee benefit plans, including our medical, dental, vision, group life, disability and accidental death and dismemberment insurance plans, in each case on the same basis as all of our other employees. We provide a 401(k) savings plan to our employees, including our current named executive officers, as discussed in the section below entitled "401(k) Savings Plan."

We generally do not provide perquisites or personal benefits to our named executive officers, except in limited circumstances and as noted in the Summary Compensation Table above. Our board of directors may elect to adopt qualified or non-qualified benefit plans in the future if it determines that doing so is in our best interests.

401(k) Savings Plan

We maintain a tax-qualified retirement plan that provides eligible employees, including named executive officers, with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax advantaged basis. All participants' interests in their deferrals are 100% vested when contributed. Pre-tax and after-tax contributions are allocated to each participant's individual account and are then invested in selected investment alternatives according to the participant's directions. Currently, we do not make matching contributions into the plan. The 401(k) plan is intended to qualify under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. As a tax-qualified retirement plan, contributions to the 401(k) plan and earnings on those contributions are not taxable to the employees until distributed from the 401(k) plan, and all contributions, if any, are deductible by us when made.

-37-

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2014. All outstanding option awards relate to our common stock.

Plan Category	Number of Securities Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights (a)	s to be Weighted-average Ex Price of Outstanding Warrants and Rights (b)	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Options, Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (exclude securities reflected in column (a)) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:			
2012 Stock Option Plan	2,954,921	\$6.54	_
2014 Equity Incentive Plan (1)	255,772	\$19.09	373,803
Warrants	_	N/A	_
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders:	_	N/A	_
Total	3,210,693	\$7.54	373,803

Our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan provided for an annual increase in the number of shares available for issuance thereunder beginning upon the effectiveness of our initial public offering, and on each anniversary date thereafter, (1) equal to the lower of: (i) 1,200,000 shares of our common stock; (ii) 3% of the outstanding shares of our common stock on the second-to-last day prior to each anniversary date; (iii) an amount as our board of directors may determine.

Compensation Committee Report

The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed the foregoing "Executive Compensation" section of this proxy statement with management. Based on this review and discussion, the compensation committee recommended to our board of directors that such information be included in this proxy statement.

The Compensation Committee

Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D. (Chair) Muneer A. Satter Jean-Jacques Bienaimé Lowell E. Sears

The information contained in the Compensation Committee Report shall not be deemed to be soliciting material or to be filed with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that Vital Therapies specifically incorporates it by reference in such filing.

-38-

RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Related Person Transactions

The following is a summary of transactions since January 1, 2014 to which we have been a party in which the amount involved exceeded \$120,000 and in which any of our executive officers, directors, promoters or beneficial holders of more than 5% of our capital stock had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than compensation arrangements which are described under the section of this proxy statement titled "Executive Compensation."

Follow-On Public Offering

In connection with our follow-on public offering, which was completed in October 2014, we entered into a directed share letter with the underwriters pursuant to which, at the public offering price, our directors and executive officers, and their affiliated entities, could indicate an interest in purchasing shares of our common stock offered thereby. The sale of these shares was made on the same terms and conditions as the sale of shares to the public. The following table presents the number of shares of common stock issued to our directors and officers, and their affiliated entities, at the follow-on offering:

Purchaser	Shares of Common Stock	Aggregate Purchase Price
Trust Affiliated with Muneer A. Satter ⁽¹⁾	74,286	\$1,300,005
Errol R. Halperin ⁽²⁾	5,476	95,830
Douglas E. Godshall	2,857	49,997
Lowell E. Sears	1,429	25,007
Jean-Jacques Bienaimé	4,286	75,005
Duane Nash	100	1,750

⁽¹⁾ Consists of shares held by a trust for which Mr. Satter serves as trustee and, in such capacity, has sole voting and dispositive control over such shares.

⁽²⁾ Consists of (i) 1,667 shares held by Errol Halperin IRA FBO Errol Halperin and (ii) 3,809 shares held by Errol R. Halperin and Libby G. Halperin.

Directed Share Program

In connection with our initial public offering, or IPO, which was completed in April 2014, the underwriters of our IPO reserved for sale, at the initial public offering price, up to \$20.0 million in shares of our common stock offered thereby for our directors, employees, existing investors and their affiliated entities, business associates and related persons who expressed an interest in purchasing shares of common stock in our IPO. The sale of these shares was made through a directed share program, or DSP. The participants in the DSP included certain of our directors and officers, and their affiliated entities. The following table presents the number of shares of common stock issued to our directors and officers, and their affiliated entities, through the DSP:

Purchaser	Shares of Common Stock	Aggregate Purchase Price
Trusts and Other Entities Affiliated with Muneer A. Satter ⁽¹⁾	360,966	\$4,331,592
Errol R. Halperin ⁽²⁾	14,524	174,288
Douglas E. Godshall	12,500	150,000
Lowell E. Sears	12,500	150,000
Jean-Jacques Bienaimé	8,333	99,996
Philip M. Croxford	1,500	18,000
Aron Stern	83	996

-39-

- Includes shares held by the Muneer A. Satter Revocable Trust and various other trusts and entities for which (1)Mr. Satter serves as trustee, investment advisor or manager and, in such capacity, has sole voting and dispositive control over such shares.
- (2) Consists of (i) 8,333 shares held by Errol Halperin IRA FBO Errol Halperin and (ii) 6,191 shares held by Errol R. Halperin and Libby G. Halperin.

Senior Preferred Stock Financing

The participants in our senior preferred financing included the Muneer A. Satter Revocable Trust and certain affiliated trusts and other entities, or the Satter Investors, certain of our directors and officers and certain unaffiliated third-party investors, all of which are collectively referred to herein as the Investors. Muneer A. Satter is a member of our board of directors and is the trustee of the Muneer A. Satter Revocable Trust and the trustee, investment advisor or manager of each other Satter Investor. In his capacity as trustee, investment advisor or manager as applicable, Mr. Satter has sole voting and dispositive power over all shares held by the Satter Investors. Between January 2014 and February 2014, we raised an aggregate of \$18.2 million in private placements through the issuance and sale of 2,296,016 shares of senior redeemable convertible preferred stock, or senior preferred stock, at a price of \$8.00 per share to investors including under a Senior Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, as amended, or the Senior Preferred Purchase Agreement. Upon the closing of our initial public offering, all rights and obligations under the Senior Preferred Purchase Agreement with respect to the issuance and sale of additional shares of our senior preferred stock terminated automatically and were of no further force or effect.

The following table presents the number of shares of senior preferred stock issued to our directors, officers and holders of more than 5% of our capital stock or entities affiliated with them pursuant to the Senior Preferred Purchase Agreement in 2014. Such shares of senior preferred stock converted to common stock in conjunction with our initial public offering in April 2014.

Purchaser	Shares of Senior Preferred Stock	Aggregate Purchase Price
Trusts and Other Entities Affiliated with Muneer A. Satter ⁽¹⁾	555,000	\$ 4,440,000
Douglas E. Godshall ⁽²⁾	9,375	75,000

Includes shares held by the Muneer A. Satter Revocable Trust and various other trusts and other entities for which (1)Mr. Satter serves as trustee, investment advisor or manager and, in such capacity, has sole voting and dispositive control over such shares.

(2) Shares acquired by Douglas E. Godshall in connection with his exercise of preemptive rights under the terms of the Fourth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2013.

The Senior Preferred Purchase Agreement provided to certain of the Investors (including the Satter Investors) certain rights relating to the delivery of certain financial statements and other information. In addition, the Senior Preferred Purchase Agreement restricted the issuance of stock options or any comparable equity or equity-based incentives to any person who was a director, officer or other member of senior management as of September 25, 2012 unless such person shall have received a material promotion and commensurate increase in duties and responsibilities. Upon the closing of our initial public offering, all of the

-40-

foregoing rights and covenants in the Senior Preferred Purchase Agreement terminated automatically and were of no further force or effect.

Senior Preferred Investors' Rights Agreement

We and certain of our directors, executive officers and stockholders, including the Satter Investors, are parties to the Senior Preferred IRA. The Senior Preferred IRA contains customary preemptive rights in favor of our stockholders party thereto, as well as customary registration rights and related provisions, including customary market standoff provisions. All preemptive rights in favor of our stockholders under the Senior Preferred IRA terminated upon the closing of our initial public offering.

The Senior Preferred IRA also provides that, for so long as the Satter Investors hold at least 30% of our outstanding common stock, the Satter Investors have the right to nominate 40% of our directors (rounded up to the nearest whole number). If the Satter Investors hold less than 30% (but at least 20%) of our outstanding common stock, they have the right to nominate 30% of our directors (rounded up to the nearest whole number). If the Satter Investors hold less than 20% (but at least 10%) of our outstanding common stock, they have the right to nominate 20% of our directors (rounded up to the nearest whole number). If the Satter Investors hold less than 10% (but at least 2%) of our outstanding common stock, they have the right to nominate 10% of our directors (rounded up to the nearest whole number). For so long as the Satter Investors hold less than 2% of our outstanding common stock, they do not have the contractual right to nominate any representatives to our board of directors. To date the Satter Investors have not exercised their rights to nominate any directors, but they have reserved the right to do so in the future.

The Senior Preferred IRA provides that for so long as Mr. Satter and Dr. Winters both serve as members of our board of directors, each shall serve as co-chairman of our board of directors and Mr. Satter shall serve as our Lead Director. In the event that Mr. Satter serves as a member of our board of directors at a time when Dr. Winters does not, Mr. Satter will serve as our chairman of the board and Lead Director. Dr. Winters will serve as Co-Chairman only so long as he is both a director and our Chief Executive Officer.

Series D Investors' Rights Agreement

We and certain of our directors, executive officers and stockholders, including the Satter Investors, are or were parties to an investors' rights agreement, dated June 7, 2011, or the Series D IRA. The Series D IRA contains restrictions on transfer (for compliance with applicable securities laws) and customary registration rights. Upon the closing of our initial public offering in April 2014, all covenants in this agreement, except for the rights relating to the registration of shares under the Securities Act, terminated. The rights of any of our directors, officers or stockholders under the

Series D IRA, who became parties to the Senior Preferred IRA, were superseded by the Senior Preferred IRA.

Indemnification of Officers and Directors

We have also entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. The indemnification agreements and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws require us to indemnify our directors, executive officers and certain controlling persons to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

Related-Person Transactions Policy

We adopted a written Related Person Transactions Policy that sets forth our policies and procedures regarding the identification, review, consideration, approval and oversight of "related person transactions."

-41-

For purposes of our policy only, a "related-person transaction" is a past, present or future transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships) in which we and any "related person" are participants, the amount involved exceeds \$120,000 and a related person has a direct or indirect material interest. Various transactions are not covered by this policy, including transactions involving compensation for services provided to us as an employee, director, consultant or similar capacity by a related person, equity and debt financing transactions with a related person that are approved by the Board, and other transactions not otherwise required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K. A "related person," as determined since the beginning of our last fiscal year, is any executive officer, director or nominee to become director, a holder of more than 5% of our common stock, including any immediate family members of such persons. Any related-person transaction may only be consummated if approved or ratified by the affirmative vote of seventy-five percent (75%) of our dis-interested directors then in office in accordance with the policy guidelines set forth below.

Under the policy, where a transaction has been identified as a related-person transaction, management must present information regarding the proposed related-person transaction to our audit committee for review and recommendation for approval to our board of directors. In considering related-person transactions, our audit committee and board of directors take into account the relevant available facts and circumstances including, but not limited to whether the terms of such transaction are no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third-party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related person's interest in the transaction. In the event a director has an interest in the proposed transaction, the director must recuse himself or herself from the deliberations and approval process.

-42-

SECURITY OWNERSHIP

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of September 22, 2015 by:

·each person, or group of affiliated persons, who we know to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock;

each of our named executive officers;

each of our directors; and

all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

The percentage ownership information shown in the table is based on an aggregate of 24,145,680 shares of our common stock outstanding as of September 22, 2015.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. These rules generally attribute beneficial ownership of securities to persons who possess sole or shared voting power or investment power with respect to those securities. In addition, the rules include shares of common stock issuable pursuant to the exercise of stock options and warrants that are either immediately exercisable or exercisable on or before November 21, 2015, which is 60 days after September 22, 2015. These shares are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding those options and warrants for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person, but they are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the persons or entities identified in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to applicable community property laws.

Unless otherwise noted below, the address of each of the individuals and entities named in the table below is c/o Vital Therapies, Inc., 15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92128. Beneficial ownership representing less than 1% is denoted with an asterisk (*).

-43-

	Number of Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned	Percentage of Common Stock Beneficially Owned	,
5% Stockholders:			
Trusts and Other Entities Affiliated with Muneer A. Satter ⁽¹⁾	6,858,926	28.26	%
FMR LLC and Other Entities ⁽²⁾	1,750,000	7.25	%
Named Executive Officers and Directors:			
Terence E. Winters, Ph.D. ⁽³⁾	697,629	2.84	%
Duane Nash, M.D., J.D. ⁽⁴⁾	367,715	1.50	%
John M. Dunn, J.D. ⁽⁵⁾	12,499	*	
Muneer A. Satter ⁽¹⁾	6,858,926	28.26	%
Jean-Jacques Bienaimé ⁽⁶⁾	114,119	*	
Cheryl L. Cohen ⁽⁷⁾	1,048	*	
Philip M. Croxford ⁽⁸⁾	64,282	*	
Douglas E. Godshall ⁽⁹⁾	164,193	*	
Errol R. Halperin ⁽¹⁰⁾	139,116	*	
J. Michael Millis, M.D. ⁽¹¹⁾	51,514	*	
Lowell E. Sears ⁽¹²⁾	153,390	*	
Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D. ⁽¹³⁾	51,862	*	
All directors and executive officers as a group (18 people) ⁽¹⁴⁾	9,431,169	36.00	%

- Consists of 6,732,277 shares and warrants to acquire 126,649 shares that are held by the Muneer A. Satter (1) Revocable Trust and various other trusts and other entities for which Mr. Satter serves as trustee, investment advisor or manager and, in such capacity, has sole voting and dispositive control over all such shares. The address of FMR LLC, or FMR, is 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210. FMR, along with certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates, and other companies, has the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of 1,750,000 shares of common stock. Edward C. Johnson 3d is a Director and the Chairman of FMR LLC and Abigail P. Johnson is a Director, the Vice Chairman and the President of FMR. Members of the family of Edward C. Johnson 3d, including Abigail P. Johnson, are the predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B voting common shares of FMR, representing 49% of the voting power of FMR. The Johnson family group and all other Series B shareholders have entered into a shareholders' voting agreement under which all Series B voting common shares will be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common shares.
- (2) Accordingly, through their ownership of voting common shares and the execution of the shareholders' voting agreement, members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling group with respect to FMR. Neither FMR nor Edward C. Johnson 3d nor Abigail P. Johnson has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the shares owned directly by the various investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act ("Fidelity Funds") advised by Fidelity Management & Research Company ("Fidelity Co"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR, which power resides with the Fidelity Funds' Boards of Trustees. Fidelity Co carries out the voting of the shares under written guidelines established by the Fidelity Funds' Boards of Trustees. This information is based solely upon a Schedule 13G filed by FMR on February 13, 2015 for beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2014.

Consists of 190,566 shares held by Terence E. Winters, 119,964 shares held by the Winters Family Trust, 427 (3) shares that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of warrants held of record by Terence E. Winters, and options to purchase 386,672 shares of common stock.

- (4) Consists of 9,324 shares held and options to purchase 358,391 shares of common stock.

 (5) Consists of options to purchase shares of common stock exercisable or becoming exercisable within 60 days of September 22, 2015.
 - (6) Consists of 39,119 shares held and options to purchase 75,000 shares of common stock.

-44-

- (7) Consists of options to purchase common stock exercisable or becoming exercisable within 60 days of September 22, 2015.
 - (8) Consists of 25,091 shares held and options to purchase 39,191 shares of common stock.
 - (9) Consists of 69,375 shares held and options to purchase 94,818 shares of common stock.
- Consists of 40,000 shares held by Errol R. Halperin, 49,417 shares held by Errol R. Halperin and Libby G. (10) Halperin, 10,000 shares held by Errol Halperin IRA FBO Errol Halperin, and options to purchase 39,699 shares of common stock.
 - (11) Consists of 17,680 shares held and options to purchase 33,834 shares of common stock.
 - (12) Consists of 58,572 shares held and options to purchase 94,818 shares of common stock.
- Consists of 1,550 shares held, 137 shares that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of warrants, and options to purchase 50,175 shares of common stock.
- Consists of 7,369,315 shares held or beneficially owned, 127,268 shares that may be acquired pursuant to the
- (14) exercise of warrants, and options to purchase 1,934,586 shares of common stock that are exercisable or becoming exercisable within 60 days of September 22, 2015.

-45-

OTHER MATTERS

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes of ownership on Forms 3, 4 and 5 with the SEC. Such directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on our review of the copies of such forms we have received and written representations from certain reporting persons that they filed all required reports, we believe that all of our officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to them with respect to transactions during 2014.

Fiscal Year 2014 Annual Report

Our financial statements for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 are included in our 2014 annual report, which we will make available to stockholders at the same time as this proxy statement. This proxy statement and our 2014 annual report are posted on our website at http://ir.vitaltherapies.com/ and at the website of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, at www.sec.gov. You may also obtain a copy of our 2014 annual report without charge by sending a written request to our Investor Relations department at Vital Therapies, Inc., 15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200, San Diego, California, 92128, Attention: Investor Relations.

Company Website

We maintain a website at www.vitaltherapies.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not intended to be incorporated by reference into this proxy statement, and references to our website address in this proxy statement are inactive textual references only.

Availability of Bylaws

A copy of our bylaws may be obtained by accessing Vital Therapies' filings on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. You may also contact our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices for a copy of the relevant bylaw provisions regarding the requirements for making stockholder proposals and nominating director candidates.

Directions to Annual Meeting

To obtain directions to our annual meeting, which is to be held at the offices of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation located at One Market Plaza, Spear Tower, 1 Market Street, Suite 3300, San Francisco, California 94105-1126, please visit https://www.wsgr.com and clicking through "Offices" and "San Francisco." Parking is available for a fee at One Market Plaza and at several garages near One Market Plaza.

-46-

PROPOSALS OF STOCKHOLDERS FOR 2016 ANNUAL MEETING

Stockholder Proposals For Inclusion in Proxy Statement

Stockholders may present proper proposals for inclusion in our proxy statement and for consideration at the next annual meeting of stockholders by submitting their proposals in writing to our corporate secretary in a timely manner. For a stockholder proposal to be considered for inclusion in our proxy statement for our next annual meeting of stockholders, our corporate secretary must receive the written proposal at our principal executive offices not later than the close of business (5:30 p.m. Pacific Time) on June 9, 2016; *provided*, *however*, that in the event that we hold our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders more than 30 days before or 30 days after the one-year anniversary date of the 2015 annual meeting, we will disclose the new deadline by which stockholders proposals must be received under Item 5 of our earliest possible Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or, if impracticable, by any means reasonably calculated to inform stockholders. In addition, stockholder proposals must comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act regarding the inclusion of stockholder proposals in company-sponsored proxy materials. Proposals should be addressed to:

Vital Therapies, Inc. Attn: Corporate Secretary 15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200 San Diego, California 92128

Fax: (858) 673-6843

Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations Not for Inclusion in Proxy Statement

Our bylaws also establish an advance notice procedure for stockholders who wish to present a proposal before an annual meeting of stockholders, but do not intend for the proposal to be included in our proxy statement and for stockholders to nominate directors for election at an annual meeting of stockholders. In order to be properly brought before our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, the stockholder must have given timely notice of such proposal or nomination, in proper written form. To be timely for our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, a stockholder's notice of a matter that the stockholder wishes to present, or the person or persons the stockholder wishes to nominate as a director, must be delivered to the corporate secretary of Vital Therapies at Vital Therapies' principal executive offices not less than 90 days and not more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date of the preceding year's annual meeting of stockholders. As a result, any written notice given by a stockholder pursuant to these provisions of our bylaws must be received by our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices:

not earlier than July 20, 2016, and

not later than August 19, 2016.

In the event that we hold our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders more than 30 days before or more than 30 days after the one-year anniversary date of the 2015 annual meeting, then such written notice must be received no later than the close of business on the later of the following two dates:

the 90th day prior to such annual meeting, or

the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made.

-47-

To be in proper written form, a stockholder's notice must include the specified information concerning the proposal or nominee as described in our bylaws. Notices should be addressed to:

Vital Therapies, Inc. Attn: Corporate Secretary 15010 Avenue of Science, Suite 200 San Diego, California 92128

Fax: (858) 673-6843

For information on how to access our bylaws, please see the section entitled "Availability of Bylaws," and for additional information regarding stockholder recommendations for director candidates, please see the section entitled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to our Board."

We know of no other matters to be submitted at the 2015 annual meeting. If any other matters properly come before the 2015 annual meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the proxy to vote the shares they represent as the board of directors may recommend. Discretionary authority with respect to such other matters is granted by a properly submitted proxy.

It is important that your shares be represented at the 2015 annual meeting, regardless of the number of shares that you hold. You are, therefore, urged to vote as promptly as possible to ensure your vote is recorded.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

San Diego, California October 7, 2015

-48-

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS OF VITAL THERAPIES, INC. November 17, 2015 PROXY VOTING INSTRUCTIONS INTERNET - Access "www.voteproxy.com" and follow the on-screen instructions or scan the QR code with your smartphone. Have your proxy card available when you access the web page. TELEPHONE - Call toll-free 1-800-PROXIES (1-800-776-9437) in the United States or 1-718-921-8500 from foreign countries from any touch-tone telephone and follow the instructions. Have your proxy card available when you call. Vote online/phone until 11:59 PM Eastern Time the day before the meeting. MAIL - Sign, date and mail your proxy card in the envelope provided as soon as possible. IN PERSON - You may vote your shares in person by attending the Annual Meeting. GO GREEN - e-Consent makes it easy to go paperless. With e-Consent, you can quickly access your proxy material, statements and other eligible documents online, while reducing costs, clutter and paper waste. Enroll today via www.amstock.com to enjoy online access. COMPANY NUMBER ACCOUNT NUMBER NOTICE OF INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIAL: The Notice of Meeting, proxy statement and proxy card are available at http://www.astproxyportal.com/ast/18939 Please detach along perforated line and mail in the envelope provided IF you are not voting via telephone or the Internet. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" ALL THE NOMINEES LISTED IN PROPOSAL 1 AND "FOR" PROPOSAL 2. PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND RETURN PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. PLEASE MARK YOUR VOTE IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS SHOWN HERE 1. To elect the following Class I Director Nominees NOMINEES: Terence E. Winters, Ph.D. Philip M. Croxford Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.D. FOR WITHHOLD 2. To ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLC as Vital Therapies' independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015. FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN In their discretion, the proxies are authorized to vote upon such other business as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof. This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein by the undersigned stockholder. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted "FOR" the election of the nominees for director listed in Proposal 1 and "FOR" Proposal 2. THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED. MARK "X" HERE IF YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING. To change the address on your account, please check the box at right and indicate your new address in the address space above. Please note that changes to the registered name(s) on the account may not be submitted via this method. Signature of Stockholder Date: Signature of Stockholder Date: Note: Please sign exactly as your name or names appear on this Proxy. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor, administrator, attorney, trustee or guardian, please give full title as such. If the signer is a corporation, please sign full corporate name by duly authorized officer, giving full title as such. If signer is a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.

VITAL THERAPIES, INC. THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF VITAL THERAPIES, INC. The undersigned hereby appoints Terence E. Winters, Ph.D. and Muneer A. Satter as proxies and attorneys-in-fact of the undersigned, each with the power to act without the other and with the power of substitution, and hereby authorizes them to represent and vote all shares of common stock of the undersigned, with all the powers which the undersigned would possess if personally present at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Vital Therapies, Inc. to be held at the offices of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation located at One Market Plaza, Spear Tower, 1 Market Street, Suite 3300, San Francisco, California at 8:00 a.m., local time, on November 17, 2015 or at any adjournment or postponement thereof. Receipt of the Notice of the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement and the 2014 Annual Report is hereby acknowledged. WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED IN THE MANNER DIRECTED HEREIN BY THE UNDERSIGNED STOCKHOLDER. IF NO SUCH DIRECTION IS MADE, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED "FOR" THE ELECTION OF THE NOMINEES FOR DIRECTOR LISTED IN PROPOSAL 1, "FOR" PROPOSAL 2, AND IN THE DISCRETION OF THE PROXY HOLDER AS TO ANY OTHER MATTER THAT MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS OR ANY POSTPONEMENTS AND ADJOURNMENTS THEREOF. (Continued and to be signed on the reverse side.) 14475